Southwest Power Pool
BOARD OF DIRECTORS/MEMBERS COMMITTEE MEETING
January 31, 2006
Omni Mandalay Hotel at Las Colinas, Dallas
• AGENDA •
8:00 a.m. – 3:00 p.m. CST

1. Administrative Items.................................................................... Mr. Jim Eckelberger
2. President’s Report ............................................................................... Mr. Nick Brown
3. Strategic Planning Committee Report............................................ Mr. Richard Spring
4. Regional State Committee Report .................................................... Ms. Denise Bode
5. Corporate Governance Committee Report .......................................... Mr. Nick Brown
6. Markets and Operations Policy Committee Report ............................. Mr. Mel Perkins
7. Compliance Committee Report ............................................................Mr. Josh Martin
a. Independent Market Monitor Report ............................................. Mr. Craig Roach
8. Finance Committee Report ................................................................Mr. Harry Skilton
9. Human Resources Committee Report ........................................ Mr. Quentin Jackson
10. Future Meetings .......................................................................... Mr. Jim Eckelberger
a. April 24-25

Oklahoma City

b. June 12-13

Little Rock

c. July 24-25

Kansas City

d. October 23-24

Tulsa

e. December 4-5

Dallas
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Southwest Power Pool
BOARD OF DIRECTORS/MEMBERS COMMITTEE MEETING
DFW Hotel – Dallas, Texas
December 6, 2005

- Summary of Action Items 1. Approved minutes of the October 25, 2005 Board of Directors/Members Committee meeting.
2. Approved the Finance Committee’s recommendation to engage BKD,LLC to audit and report on SPP’s
financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2005.
3. Approved the Markets and Operations Policy Committee’s recommended modifications to Section V of
Attachment L for inclusion in the EIS version of the SPP Tariff regarding adjustments to revenue
allocations in the event of customer non-payments.
4. Approved the Markets and Operations Policy Committee’s language in Attachment AE and directs the
MOPC to bring a resolution of and Tariff language that resolves the Reserve Sharing Agreement issue to
the January Board meeting.
5. Approved the Markets and Operations Policy Committee’s language in Attachment AF after approval of
Section 3.3.1 by the MOPC. If not approved, will return to committee.
6. Approved Markets and Operations Policy Committee’s language in general Miscellaneous provisions of
the Tariff.
7. Approved the Markets and Operations Policy Committee’s language in Attachment AG to modification of
3.1 and other language based as directed.
8. Approved Strategic Planning Committee’s recommendation for Bylaws revision concerning fee waivers for
certain membership sectors.
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MINUTES NO. 102
Southwest Power Pool
BOARD OF DIRECTORS/MEMBERS COMMITTEE MEETING
DFW Hotel – Dallas, Texas
December 6, 2005
Agenda Item 1 - Administrative Items
SPP Chair Mr. Jim Eckelberger called the meeting to order at 8:36 a.m. (Agenda – Attachment 1). The following
Board of Directors/Members Committee members were in attendance, via teleconference, or represented by
proxy:
Mr. Larry Altenbaumer, director
Ms. Phyllis Bernard, director
Mr. Nick Brown, director
Mr. Harry Dawson, Oklahoma Municipal Power Authority
Mr. Michael Desselle, American Electric Power
Mr. Jim Eckelberger, director
Ms. Trudy Harper, Tenaska Power Services Company
Mr. Doug Henry, Westar
Mr. Quentin Jackson, director
Mr. Joshua Martin, director
Mr. Mike Palmer, Empire District Electric Company
Mr. Steve Parr, Kansas Electric Power Cooperative
Mr. Gary Roulet, Western Farmers Electric Cooperative
Mr. Harry Skilton, director
Mr. Jim Stanton, Calpine
Mr. Walt Yeager, Cinergy Corporation
There were 37 persons in attendance either in person or via phone representing 18 members (Attendance List Attachment 2). Mr. Eckelberger asked for a round of introductions.
Mr. Eckelberger referred to draft minutes of the October 25 meeting and asked for corrections or a motion for
approval (10/25/05 Meeting Minutes - Attachment 3). Mr. Eckelberger stated that he would like to make two
additions to Item 8: 1) that this procedure was applicable only to MOPC recommendations in deference to their
being a committee of the whole and 2) that the procedure is an alternative that can be used judgmentally. Mr.
Skilton moved that the minutes be approved with additions. Mr. Altenbaumer seconded the motion, which
passed.
Agenda Item 2 – Finance Committee Report
Mr. Harry Skilton presented the Finance Committee report. Mr. Skilton introduced Tim Cherry and Sean Barry of
PricewaterhouseCoopers to present the SAS-70 Audit report. Mr. Skilton commended SPP Staff; especially CFO
Tom Dunn, Controller Dianne Branch and IT for a job well done. A formal report to review items requiring action
as a result of the audit will be presented to the Board at the January 2006 meeting. Mr. Dunn stated that the SAS70 Audit will be made available to those customers with relevant reporting requirements. A decision is needed on
whether to perform another readiness audit in advance of a Type II audit (full/modified). Mr. Eckelberger stated
that Staff will have to decide if one individual will need to be responsible for control only and if an internal
committee and auditors are needed.
Mr. Skilton reported that SPP had engaged BKD, LLC to audit SPP’s 2004 financial statements and accounting
practices (Finance Committee Audit Recommendation – Attachment 4). BKD estimates that fees to perform an
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SPP Board of Directors/Members Committee Minutes
December 6, 2005
audit for 2005 would total $38,500. BKD would be working on the audit in mid-December, 2005 and issue its final
report to the Board of Directors at their April 25, 2006. Mr. Skilton moved:
The SPP Board of Directors approve engagement of BKD, LLC to audit and report on SPP’s financial
statements for the year ending December 31, 2005.
Mr. Altenbaumer seconded the motion. The Members were unanimous in favor. The motion passed.
Mr. Skilton reported that the Finance Committee reviewed the D&O insurance levels and agreed to an increase of
$20M for 2006The D&O insurance will be reviewed on a yearly basis. Also reviewed was the future building for
the off site operations. The building cost has increased . The committee decided to have SPP management revisit
building plans, return with a recommendation to the Finance Committee, and then a recommendation to the Board
of Directors.
Mr. Doug Henry added that Mr. Mel Perkin’s previous request to back-up the SPP budget process in order to help
member companies as they undergo their budget processes would be addressed at the January 2006 meeting.
Agenda Item 3 – Market and Operations Policy Committee Report
Mr. Mel Perkins presented the Markets and Operations Policy Committee Report (MOPC Report and
Recommendation – Attachment 5). Mr. Dennis Reed was asked to present Tariff language revisions as passed at
the MOPC meeting on November 30 with some revisions by the RTWG at its meeting Thursday, December 1. Mr.
Reed reviewed: Section V of Attachment L; new Attachments AE, AF, AG and other related Tariff changes to
respond to the FERC’s September 2005 order (RTWG Tariff Revisions – Attachment 6). Following discussion
and concerns about: the Reserve Sharing Agreement, IMM-MMU delineation and reporting, exceptions/waiver of
price caps, and Market behavior rules, the following motions were entertained with some direction to MOPC:
1. The Board of Directors approves modifications to Section V of Attachment L for inclusion in the
EIS version of the SPP Tariff regarding adjustments to revenue allocations in the event of
customer non-payments. Mr. Altenbaumer moved to approve. Mr. Skilton seconded the motion.
The Members were unanimous in favor. The motion passed.
2. The Board of Directors approves the language in Attachment AE as revised by the RTWG on
December 1, 2005 and directs the MOPC to bring a resolution of and Tariff language that resolves
the Reserve Sharing Agreement issue to the January Board Meeting. Mr. Altenbaumer moved to
approve. Mr. Brown seconded the motion. The Members voted 6 in favor, 3 opposed. The motion
passed.
3. The Board of Directors approves the language in Attachment AF as revised by the RTWG on
December 1, 2005 after approval of Section 3.3.1 by the MOPC. Mr. Jackson moved to approve.
Mr. Brown seconded the motion. The Member voted 7 in favor with 2 abstentions.
4. The Board of Directors approves the language in General Miscellaneous provisions of the Tariff as
revised by the RTWG on December 1, 2005. Mr. Brown moved to approve. Mr. Skilton seconded
the motion. The Members were unanimous in favor. The motion passed.
5. The Board of Directors approves the language in Attachment AG as revised by the RTWG on
December 1, 2005, subject to modification of 3.1 and other language based on 1) Market Monitoring
function reporting is determined solely by the Board of Directors, 2) SPP should be replaced with
reporting to the Board of Directors, 3) first sentence implies can only be SPP employees and not
include external contractor if desired and 4) 6.1 a, b, c remove investigatory. Mr. Skilton moved to
3
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approve. Mr. Altenbuamer seconded the motion. The Members voted 5 in favor and 3 abstentions.
The motion passed.
Agenda Item 4 – Strategic Planning Committee/Fee Waiver
Mr. Michael Desselle reviewed the Strategic Planning recommendation (SPC Bylaws Revisions – Attachment 7)
Mr. Desselle stated that in an October 7 FERC order SPP was directed to amend its Bylaws to include provisions
for certain classes of membership to request waiver of annual membership fees, specifically public interest groups,
including large and small retail customer members. The SPC requested Board approval of Bylaws revisions
concerning fee waivers. Mr. Skilton moved to approve SPP Bylaws revisions. Ms. Bernard seconded the
motion. The Members were unanimous in favor. The motion passed.
Agenda Item 5 – Corporate Governance Committee
Mr. Nick Brown reviewed the results of the annual review of the Board of Directors as required by the Bylaws
(BOD Evaluation – Attachment 8). Mr. Brown provided total results as well as by “directors” and “members” with
comparisons to the 2004 results. The purpose of the evaluation is to fine tune organizational processes. Mr.
Brown stressed that it is important that all participate in the review to afford optimum effectiveness. Discussion
followed.
Agenda Item 7 – Results of Customer Satisfaction Survey
Mr. Brown reviewed the results of the Customer Satisfaction Survey (Customer Satisfaction Survey – Attachment
9). Mr. Brown stated that this was the first survey of this type with participation from members, customers,
regulators and vendors. It was suggested that Human Resources and the Strategic Planning Committee have
input in the 2006 survey. It was also suggested that questions for this survey be more specific in the future.
Agenda Item 6 – Strategic Planning Committee
Mr. Michael Desselle reviewed the Organizational Effectiveness Report (Organizational Effectiveness Report –
Attachment 10). The Organizational Effectiveness Task Force has developed a proposed approach which they
have partially implemented in 2005. Full implementation is planned for 2006. Reviewing the data, it was
suggested that people consistently missing meetings should be replaced in order to maintain a balance of
representation and better effectiveness of the groups.
Agenda Item 8 – 2005: The Year in Review
Mr. Nick Brown reviewed 2005 (Year in Review – Attachment 11). Mr. Brown addressed: Outreach/relationship
growth, transmission utilization, Board development, reliability improvement, accountability tracking, and the
administrative process as well as a draft of goals for 2006. Mr. Brown emphasized that 2005 has been a year of
great accomplishments.
Future Meetings
The next Board of Directors/Members Committee meeting is January 30 – 31, 2006 in Dallas at the Omni
Mandalay Los Colinas. Mr. Eckelberger called attention to the schedule of future meetings for 2006 and 2007 in
the background material (2006-2007 Meetings – Attachment 12).
Adjournment
With no further business, Mr. Eckelberger thanked everyone for participating and adjourned the meeting at
1:55 p.m.
Stacy Duckett, Corporate Secretary

4
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
Report from the President
To the Board of Directors and Members Committee
January 2006
ADMINISTRATION
2005 was our largest staff growth year in history with 48 employees added to our payroll (previous
high was 2001 with 39 additions). Five more employees were hired in 2005 with start dates in
January 2006. We ended 2005 with 170 full time employees and 2 part time employees. We had 10
terminations in 2005 including 1 involuntary, 1 retiree, 1 summer intern and 7 voluntary
terminations producing an annual turnover rate of just below 6%. We are currently advertising and
interviewing for over 20 positions and are slated for a staff of 238 by year-end, a potential addition
of 68 employees in 2006.
Additional space in the Plaza West Building has been procured and we are in the process of moving
our training center to the 1st floor to improve space, access and security. The New Facility Project
Team selected PDC Companies through an RFP process as project manager for the coordination
center and a contract has been executed. All approvals for construction have been obtained from the
Maumelle Planning Commission and the city of Maumelle. The Finance Committee is bringing a
recommendation to the Board of Directors concerning final authorization on the project.
Results of SPP’s first customer satisfaction survey were presented to the Board of Directors in
December and a question was asked concerning review of the survey by the Human Resources
Committee. Upon review, minutes of the October 24, 2005 Human Resources Committee meeting
indicate that a proposed survey draft and distribution plan were discussed. An October 18, 2005
memo from Stacy Duckett to the Human Resources Committee seeking comments and suggestions
is attached to these minutes.
The officers, other than me, underwent a 360-degree performance review at the end of 2005.
Oklahoma Gas & Electric generously allowed SPP to use its executive rating form and evaluation
process for the reviews. Rating forms were distributed October 28, 2005 to Directors, Members and
Staff selected by the Human Resources Committee. We received 8 responses of 11 participants for
each officer. Results have been provided to and I have met with each officer to discuss the results.
Appropriate action plans considering these results will be developed as part of each officer’s next
biennial performance appraisal. The Human Resources Department is charged with designing,
developing and implementing a biannual 360-degree performance review process for the entire
management team by the end of 2006.

REGULATORY
FERC issued a final order December 16 (RM04-12-000) amending its regulations to update the
accounting and reporting requirements for public utilities, now also including ISOs and RTOs, to
allow better information transparency and comparability between public utilities and to facilitate
accurate understanding of RTO costs. SPP worked with the ISO/RTO Council in providing
comments to FERC in the rulemaking process, which we understand have been included in the final
order. Our Staff is in the process of verifying this and we are already able to comply with the order
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due to recent implementation of a new accounting platform. We will finally be able to compare
“apples to apples” when discussing our costs in comparison to other regional entities.
We are still awaiting a final order from FERC on Entergy’s ICT proposal and SPP serving in this
capacity and are hopeful for a notational order very soon. Meanwhile, Staff members Bruce Rew
and Jody Holland participated in the January 4 Entergy AFC (Available Flowgate Capacity)
meeting in Houston. SPP was selected by and has entered into a contract with Entergy to audit its
AFC calculation process, a preliminary step in assuming ICT responsibilities for Entergy. The
audit’s scope has grown considerably from initial SPP and Entergy expectations due to constant
input and pressure from Entergy’s stakeholder group, which is very interested in greater
transparency and accuracy of information used in the calculation process. A draft audit report will
be distributed February 10 and discussed at the next stakeholder meeting February 16. A final report
will be published March 1. We very much expect our performance of ICT services in the near future
to eliminate the negative perceptions about the AFC calculation process.
Following the release of the RSC Cost/Benefit Study, SPP and several of its members initiated the
mandated proceedings in several states seeking to allow the transfer of functional control of the
member’s transmission facilities to SPP. Filings are not required in every state, but are and have
been made in Arkansas, Kansas and Missouri. After observing continued SPP market development,
continuing increase in natural gas prices, and the added interest and attention paid to the role of
ICTs, SPP supplemented its testimony in Arkansas addressing the RTO/ICT features and re-ran a
limited cost/benefit analysis with a higher gas price forecast. That cost/benefit study determined that
the increased gas cost in the single study year, 2006, caused benefits from the EIS market
implementation to increase from $1.7 million to $3.9 million. Issues have also arisen on the
potential affect on existing state jurisdictional authority and transmission cost allocation. Staff
believes that while these issues are real they have either been addressed through testimony
(RTO/ICT and increased gas cost), are better addressed through the normal SPP processes
(transmission service and cost allocation) or are a matter of law (jurisdictional concerns). Issues and
hearings are ahead, but I’m confident that we will ultimately be successful when these proceedings
conclude this spring. An APSC order was issued January 10 setting the evidentiary hearing for
April 4. I’m hopeful for a final order shortly thereafter.

INTERREGIONAL
The ISO/RTO Council met December 12-13 in Washington D.C. with an agenda focused on
collaboration initiatives. We met with executives of the three EMS vendors in separate meetings to
discuss moving toward standardized tools, processes and data structures and formats. This evolution
faces the formidable obstacle of extremely small capitalization in a niche of a niche market, but
there are some viable opportunities worth pursuing. Additional discussion included shared activities
and the potential of collective procurement. Some organizations (including SPP) are much more
interested than others in this initiative, but next steps include the development of a white paper to
facilitate further dialogue. We have scheduled a collective ISO/RTO board retreat May 23-24 in
Phoenix to continue productive joint dialogue begun last year by FERC’s extraordinary technical
conference and I’m working to ensure that collaborative initiatives are a primary agenda item.
A draft ERO Application package was posted on the NERC website Dec 15, 2005 for industry
comments. It is a comprehensive package of NERC’s governance and structure and its processes for
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compliance and standards development. SPP has reviewed the package and provided comments
directly to NERC as well as through the ISO/RTO Council’s Regulatory Legal Committee. SPP
supports the application in general, with the caveat that certain protections be added to ensure the
sovereignty of the Regional Entities in areas of compliance and enforcement and regional standards
making, the activities that are expressly allowed to be delegated to the REs by the EPAct of 2005.
The NERC Board will be presented an updated draft of the Application at its February 7 meeting in
Scottsdale, Arizona. The anticipated timeline for filing the Application will allow time for FERC
regulatory approvals to be completed in time to begin the ERO operation at the start of 2007. There
remains to be finalized, the Pro-Forma Regional Entity Delegation Agreement that NERC plans to
have executed with each Regional Council and submit with the Application to FERC. It is not likely
that NERC will finalize the format of the Delegation Agreements before the ERO Final Order is
issued. If the FERC Final Order for ERO does not address the independence concerns of a
combined RTO and RE organization, it may be the SPP Delegation Agreement and associated SPP
governance documents that FERC will use to evaluate the independence of the SPP RTO from the
compliance and enforcement activities. The Strategic Planning Committee continues to monitor this
activity for any needed changes for SPP.
We have signed a letter of intent with LG&E to perform Independent Transmission Organization
(ITO) services including tariff administration, scheduling, OASIS system, and generation
interconnection processing. SPP has begun the initial development necessary to provide the services
scheduled for an April 1, 2006 implementation. The ITO has not been approved by FERC but an
Order is expected soon.
SPP was notified on December 22 that MidAmerian Electric Company (MEC) had entered into
negotiations with another party to provide its Transmission Service Coordinator (TSC) functions.
We were required to and did pre-qualify to receive a Request For Proposal to perform the services.
A proposal was submitted December 1, 2005. The proposal included SPP performing transmission
planning, tariff administration, and scheduling and tagging services for MEC.
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SPP BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE QUARTERLY REPORT
4Q 2005

SUMMARY
4Q 2005

3Q 2005

2Q 2005

1Q 2005

4Q 2004

$ 52.6M

$37.8M

$24.7M

$11.7M

$40.3M

$ 46.4M

$33.4M

$21.1M

$11.1M

$28.4M

Operating Cash Flow

$ 12.9M

$7.7M

$1.8M

$477K

$18.7M

Cash on Hand

$ 42.1M

$42.8M

$39.0M

$40.1M

$47.6M

37

115

111

31

105

451

516

456

472

416

37,388

57,703

43,979

42,720

61,504

174 requests/
157 studies

180/104

195/97

184/95

172/74

35 requests

39
requests

33
requests

34
requests

35
requests

56

53

41

52

55

44

34

21

20

15

2

3

3

3

0

34

38

56

38

27

46

45

45

45

43

7 (2006)

5 (2005)
3 (2006)

7 (2005)
1 (2006)

8 (2005)

8 (2005)

168

157

144

137

131

Tariff Administration
Service, Fees &
Assessments
Operating Expenses

TLR Events
Tags (daily average)
Transmission Service
Requests
Transmission Service
Study Queue
Generation
Interconnection Queue
Stakeholder Meetings
FERC/State Commissions
Dockets Pending
Legal Matters Pending
Executive Industry
Activities
Number of Members
Withdrawal Notices
Staff
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SPP BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE QUARTERLY REPORT
4Q 2005

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Balance Sheet
•

Cash balances declined by $5.6 million from 2004 year end balances. This decline resulted
primarily from:
• $13.5 million in capital expenditures in 2005
• $ 5.0 million principal payment on debt in March 2005
The overall decline was partially offset by positive cash flows from operations of $12.9
million.

•

Overall increase in A/R of $1.5 million is attributable mainly to increased activity under the
tariff in 2005, offset partially by the decrease in A/R balances from departing members.

•

Other current assets increased $3.5 million primarily due to several large maintenance
contracts being renewed in December 2005 ($1.7 million). Additionally, balances associated
with accrued billings for Schedule 12 Revenue, which commenced in March 2005, created a
significant variance in comparison to the prior year ($1.5 million).

•

Net fixed assets increased $10.6 million as SPP booked nearly $13.5 million in gross
purchases during 2005. Over $8.3 million of the purchases were related to capitalized costs
associated with the imbalance energy markets.

•

Current liabilities increased $7.0 million from 2004 primarily due to the 2005 FERC fee
accrual of $8.0 million and the performance compensation plan accrual of $0.9 million. The
overall increase was partially offset by a decrease in accounts payable and other accrued
liabilities of $1.6 million.

•

Ιn March 2005, SPP made a $5.0 million principal payment on the 7.5 % note due in 2008.

•

Members’ equity increased by $7.95 million as a result of retention of earnings.

Income Statement
•
•
•

Revenues from assessments and tariff administrative fees exceeded budget by $3.2 million
primarily due to activity under the tariff being greater than what was assumed in the budget,
including activity under Schedule 12, which was introduced in March 2005.
Μiscellaneous income exceeded budget by nearly $1.9 million primarily due to the level of
billings for impact studies being significantly greater than what was assumed in the budget.
Operating expenses fell $5.0 million short of budget primarily due to the following:
•

Communication Expense was $1.3 million favorable to budget primarily due to
the actual negotiated rates being significantly less than what was assumed in the
budget for both frame relay and data circuits.
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•
•

•

Maintenance Expense was $1.3 million favorable to budget due to the 24/7
maintenance agreement for the market operations being assumed in the 2005
budget, but was not incurred due to the delay in the market launch until 2006.
Salary & Benefits was $1.0 million favorable to budget primarily due to
headcount not hired or hired later in the year than what was assumed in the budget
($2.1 million). This was partially offset by the $0.9 million performance
compensation accrual, which was not assumed in the budget.
Depreciation & Amortization was $2.0 million favorable to budget primarily due
to budget assumptions being much higher than actual expenditures for capital
purchases in early 2005 (i.e. big dollar items were budgeted in the first part of the
year for market implementation).
The overall favorable variance to budget was partially offset by Fees &
Assessments due to the accrual for the FERC fees assessment being greater than
what was assumed in the budget by $0.8 million.

•

Νet other income/expense was favorable to budget by $1.7 million largely due to earnings on
deposits being greater than what was assumed in the budget by $0.8 million and bad debt
expense being less than what was assumed in the budget by $0.6 million.

Cash Flow
•

SPP recorded a net decrease in cash of $5.6 million in 2005. As noted above, this is
primarily the result of $13.5 million in capital expenditures made in 2005. Additionally, a
$5.0 million principal payment was made in March 2005 on the 7.5% note due in 2008.
These outflows were partially offset by the positive cash flow from operations of
approximately $12.9 million.
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6:50 PM
01/16/06
Accrual Basis

Southwest Power Pool

Balance Sheets
As of December 31, 2005

DRAFT

Dec 31, 05

Dec 31, 04

Variance

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash & Equivalents
Accounts Receivable, Net
Other Current Assets
Total Current Assets
Total Fixed Assets
Total Other Assets
TOTAL ASSETS

42,052
5,660

47,651
4,195

(5,599)
1,465

3,794

288

3,506

51,506
29,926

52,134
19,294

(628)
10,632

456

537

(81)

81,888

71,966

9,923

LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
283

1,657

(1,374)

Customer Deposits
Current Maturities of LT Debt

Accounts Payable, Net

16,039
5,000

16,430
5,000

(390)
0

Other Current Liabilities

10,321

1,584

8,737

31,643

24,671

6,973

10,000
25,000

15,000
25,000

(5,000)
0
(5,000)

Total Current Liabilities
Long Term Liabilities
29001 · 7.50% Senior Notes - 2008
29002 · 4.78% Senior Notes - 2011

35,000

40,000

Total Liabilities

Total Long Term Liabilities

66,643

64,671

1,973

Total Members Equity

15,245

7,295

7,950

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY

81,888

71,966

9,923
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01/12/06
Accrual Basis

Southwest Power Pool

Statements of Income
Years Ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

DRAFT
Fav/(Unfav)
2004
Actuals

2005
Actuals

2005
Budget

Variance
Budget

Ordinary Income/Expense
Income
Tariff Administration Service

38,555

42,758

40,391

2,368

1,807

9,803

9,009

794

1,516

182
2,895

960

182
1,935

41,878

55,639

50,360

5,279

41,878

55,639

50,360

5,279

Salary & Benefits

14,499

17,918

18,929

1,012

Employee Travel

613

716

688

(27)

1,109

1,874

1,947

73

692

8,708

7,909

(799)

Fees & Assessments
Contract Services Revenue
Miscellaneous Income
Total Income
Gross Profit
Expense

Administrative
Assessments & Fees
Meetings

334

374

399

25

Communications

1,198

1,833

3,159

1,326

Maintenance

1,959

1,537

2,819

1,282

698

740

746

6

Outside Services
Regional State Committee

7,480
3

8,852
970

8,553
1,423

(298)
453

Depreciation and Amortization
Impairment Loss

5,341
2,485

2,926
0

4,881

1,955
0

36,410

46,447

51,454

5,007

5,468

9,192

(1,094)

10,287

Leases

Total Expense
Net Ordinary Income
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2:39 PM
01/12/06
Accrual Basis

Southwest Power Pool

Statements of Income
Years Ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

DRAFT
2004
Actuals

2005
Actuals

2005
Budget

Variance
Budget

Other Income/Expense
Other Income
Withdrawal Obligation Income
Interest Income
Total Other Income

1,549
306

945

120

825

1,856

945

120

825

1,223
211

2,336
(148)

2,594
500

258
648

1,435

2,188

3,094

906

421

(1,242)

(2,974)

1,731

5,889

7,950

(4,068)

12,018

Other Expense
Interest Expense
Bad Debt Expense
Total Other Expense
Net Other Income
Net Income
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Southwest Power Pool

Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2005

DRAFT
($000)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income
to net cash provided by operations:
Depreciation
Amortization
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable
Other current liabilities
Customer deposits
Net cash provided by operating activities
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and equipment
Net cash used by investing activities
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment on 7.5% Senior Notes - 2008
Net cash used by financing activities

Jan - Dec 05
7,950

2,845
81
(1,465)
(3,506)
(1,374)
8,737
(390)
12,878

(13,477)
(13,477)

(5,000)
(5,000)

Net decrease for period

(5,599)

Cash at beginning of period
Cash at end of period

47,651
42,052
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SPP BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE QUARTERLY REPORT
4Q 2005

RELIABILITY COORDINATION
TLR Events per Quarter
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4Q05 v. 4Q04 shows a large decrease.
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4Q05 v. 4Q04 shows a large decrease in MW curtailed due to TLR.
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SCHEDULING
Daily Average Tags Processed
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400

300

200

100

0

SPP

4Q-05

3Q-05

2Q-05

1Q-05

4Q-04

451

516

456

473

416

4Q05 v. 4Q04 shows increase in the number of tags processed.

TARIFF ADMINISTRATION
Total Requests Submitted
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4Q05 v. 4Q04 shows decrease in total transmission service requests.
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% of Total Requests that are Confirmed
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4Q05 v. 4Q04 shows strong increase in percentage of transmission service requests confirmed.
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QUEUE STATUS REPORT
Transmission Service Request Queue
Number of requests/studies = 174/157, representing 12,927MW
Number of non-DC Tie requests/studies = 72/55, representing 4,935 MW
There are 102 requests/studies for DC Tie requests representing 7,992MW that cannot be
processed due to impending DC Tie competition.
During the same period last year, there were 172 requests/74 studies in process, representing
19,745 MW. There were 77 requests/25 studies for DC Tie requests representing 8,110 MW that
could not be processed due to impending DC Tie competition.

Generation Interconnection Queue
Number of active requests = 35, representing 6,340 MW
•
Number of wind requests = 22, representing 3,571 MW
•
Number of fossil fuel requests = 13, representing 2,769 MW
Number of requests with Interconnection Agreement pending = 11
Interconnection Agreements signed during 2005 = 11 ((1,685 MW (all wind) not included
above))
Interconnection Agreement signed during 2006 = 2 ((250 MW (80 MW wind, 170 MW gas) not
included above))
During the same period last year, there are 35 requests in process (26 wind; 10 fossil fuel)
representing 7,928 MW (4,178MW wind; 3,899 MW fossil fuel). There were 8 Interconnection
Agreements pending.

19 of 127

SPP BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE QUARTERLY REPORT
4Q 2005

SPP DOCKETS AT FERC/STATE COMMISSIONS
NO .

1.

2.

3.

4.

DOCKET

RT04-01; ER04-48

RM05-5-000

ER05-666

ER05-1285

CASE NAME

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

Standards For Business
Practices And
Communications Protocols
For Public Utilities

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

Southwest Power Pool, Inc

DESCRIPTION

CURRENT STATUS

FERC Letter Order accepting changes to
SPP’s Independent Market Monitoring
Services Agreement

On October 25, 2005 FERC accepted revisions to
become effective for Docket Nos. RT04-1-010 and
ER04-48-010 on October 27, 2004; for Docket
Nos. RT04-1-011 and ER04-48-011 on May 13,
2005; and for Docket Nos. RT04-1-015 and ER0448-015 on July 1, 2005, as requested.

North American Energy Standards Boards
filing of Report of Renumbering of
Wholesale Electric Business Practices

On November 16, 2005, the North American
Energy Standards Boards submitted a Report of
Renumbering of Wholesale Electric Business
Practices.

FERC Letter Order accepting the Aug. 22
compliance filing in the omnibus
proceeding to remove the liability cap from
the SPP OATT; FERC Order on rehearing
of Golden Spread issues

FERC Order granting rehearing of its
September 30, 2005 Order for further
consideration and SPP’s November 29,
2005 Compliance Filing

On November 15, 2005, FERC issued a letter
order accepting SPP’s August 22, 2005 filing of
revised tariff sheets to its OATT, correcting a
typographical error. The revised tariff sheets
became effective May 1, 2005. On December 19,
2005 FERC also issued an order denying Golden
Spread’s request for rehearing of FERC’s July 21
Order re: SPP.
On November 28, 2005, the Commission issued an
order granting rehearing of its September 30 Order
for further consideration. (FERC’s September 30
Order accepted SPP’s proposed revisions to the
Schedule 1 and Attachment L, in addition to SPP’s
proposed revisions to the Definitions section and
the new Attachment AI, as modified. It also
directed SPP to file, within 60 days, revised Tariff
sheets to incorporate the modifications to the new
Attachment AI.) On November 29, 2005, SPP
submitted a compliance filing providing revisions
and clarifications to its OATT under this docket.
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NO .

5.

6.

7.

DOCKET

ER05-576

ER05-1051;
ER05-1052

ER05-990

CASE NAME

DESCRIPTION

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

February 11, 2005, SPP submittal of an
Agreement for Wholesale Distribution
Services Charges between Kansas Electric
Power Cooperative, Inc and the Empire
District Electric Co.

Westar Energy, Inc.

Second Settlement Conference re:
unexecuted ancillary services agreement
between SPP and KPP; Letter Order
accepting the Aug. 25 filing of the revised
unexecuted Ancillary Services Agreement
with Westar Energy, Inc et al, with an
effective date of May 1, 2005, as requested;
and Third Settlement Conference re:
unexecuted ancillary services agreement
between SPP and KPP

Southwest Power Pool, Inc

In a May 2 Filing, Westar proposed to (a)
update Westar's rates to recover the costs of
providing transmission and ancillary
service; and (b) adopt a formula rate
approach to determining and keeping the
transmission service rates current. SPP
submitted this filing to merely track the
proposed rates for transmission service
applicable to the Westar pricing zone.

CURRENT STATUS
On May 12, 2005, SPP submitted a compliance
filing consistent with an April 13, 2005
unpublished letter order, providing SPP’s
corrected designation to the Agreement for
Wholesale Distribution Service Charges between
Electric Power Cooperative, Inc and the Empire
District Electric Company and a refund report.
FERC accepted SPP’s submittal on August 19,
2005. No further FERC action has been taken on
this docket.
October 17, 2005 FERC issued an order
scheduling settlement conferences for November
16 and 17, 2005. On November 2, 2005 FERC
accepted SPP’s August 25, 2005 filing of a
Revised Unexecuted Ancillary Services
Agreement among Westar Energy, Inc., Kansas
Power Pool and SPP (to become effective on May
1, 2005, as requested), in compliance with the
Commission’s July 26, 2005 Order. November
21, 2005 FERC scheduled a settlement conference
re: SPP for December 2, 2005 and issued a status
report on November 23. On December 5, 2005,
FERC ordered an additional settlement conference
to be held January 13, 2006.

The effective date for Westar’s filing has been
delayed for five months subject to hearing and
settlement proceedings. No other FERC action
has been taken on this docket.
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NO .

8.

9.

10.

11.

DOCKET

ER05-562

ER05-156

ER99-4392

ER05-1118

CASE NAME

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

East Texas Electric
Cooperatives, Inc. v. FERC

Southwest Power Pool, Inc

DESCRIPTION

On February 8, 2005, SPP filed a revision to
its open access transmission tariff to add
Schedule 12 in order to recover SPP's
payments to FERC's Annual Charges.

SPP filed Attachment AD on November 1,
2004 to provide an interim agreement
between SPP and Southwestern Power
Administration until a permanent agreement
can be executed.
SPP filed revisions to its tariff in order to
implement network integration transmission
service. FERC granted a rehearing request in
accordance with a Court decision to remand
the case to FERC. At OG & E’s request,
FERC decided the major issue in the case was
whether redispatch is required to sustain
non-firm service, and FERC found that it
was not.
Rehearing requests by SPP and others of
FERC’s September 19, 2005 Order on
SPP’s proposed tariff modifications to
implement an energy imbalance market.
SPP’s issue is the sufficiency of the SPP
market to be the default relevant market for
determination of market based rates.

CURRENT STATUS
Interventions and Protests have been filed and SPP
filed an answer to the protests on April 4, 2005.
On April 8, 2005 FERC accepted the filing and
suspended it, subject to the outcome of Settlement
and Hearing Proceedings. After initiating
settlement proceedings, FERC issued an order on
clarification on June 3, 2005 and accepted the
tariff revisions as filed. No other FERC action has
been taken on this docket.
On February 8, 2005, SPP filed a supplement to
Attachment AD and a revised agreement. On
March 31, 2005, FERC accepted Attachment AD
and the revised agreement. The SPA coordination
agreement was filed on May 16, 2005. FERC
accepted the agreement by letter order on June 30,
2005. No other FERC action has been taken on
this docket.
On February 11, 2005, FERC accepted SPP’s past
compliance filing and directed SPP to make a new
compliance filing. SPP filed on March 14, 2005.
On June 3, 2005 FERC issued an order on
clarification that affirmed its position and accepted
SPP’s tariff filing. No other FERC action has been
taken on this docket.

On October 19, 2005 several requests for
clarification or rehearing of FERC’s September
19, 2005 Order were filed. On November 1, 2005
FERC dismissed these requests.
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NO .

12.

DOCKET

ER05-1087

CASE NAME

DESCRIPTION

CURRENT STATUS

Southwest Power Pool, Inc

SPP made revisions to its Tariff in order to
incorporate Aquila Networks-L&P ("L&P'),
Aquila Networks-MPS ("MPS"), and
Aquila Networks-WPK ("WPK") as
Transmission Owners participating in the
SPP Tariff.

FERC accepted the filing on June 30, 2005. On
July 7, 2005, Midwest Energy filed a late motion
to intervene and comments in support of filing. No
other FERC action has been taken on this docket.

SPP filing and approval of Interim
Settlement Agreement, OMPA, AEP and
OG&E re: OMPA Network Service

On November 14, 2005, SPP submitted an Offer
of Settlement under Docket No. ER05-526. On
November 22, 2005 the settlement judge
recommended continuance of the settlement
proceedings in these dockets, and on December 5,
2005, FERC Trial Staff submitted comments in
full support of the Settlement Agreement.
Therefore, on December 13, 2005 FERC approved
the settlement, terminating these dockets.

FERC grants rehearing of July 22, 2005
Order but denies clarification on December
27, 2005

On September 21, 2005 the Commission issued an
order granting rehearing of FERC’s July 22, 2005
Order for further consideration. FERC issued an
order denying clarification on December 27, 2005.

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
proceedings concerning Entergy’s ICT
proposal.

No FERC decision has been issued on this docket.

Effective date for Westar transmission rate
increase subject to refund and subject to the
outcome of Docket No. ER05-925-000

On October 7, 2005 FERC scheduled a settlement
conference for November 15, 2005. On
November 17, 2005, an additional settlement
conference was scheduled for January 12, 2006.

13.

ER05-799;
ERO5-526

Southwest Power Pool, Inc

14.

ER05-1012; ER051072

Union Electric Co. d/b/a
Ameren UE
American Electric Power Co.

15.

ER04-699-000;
ER05-1065

Entergy Services, Inc.

16.

ER05-925; ER05990

Westar Energy, Inc.
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NO .

17.

18.

19.

DOCKET

ER05-651-003

ER03-765-001

RM04-12

CASE NAME

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

DESCRIPTION

CURRENT STATUS

FERC letter order accepting a revised
Interconnection Agreement among FPL
Energy Cowboy Wind, LLC, Public Service
Company of Oklahoma and SPP in
compliance with FERC’s order issued on
August 25, 2005.

On November 30, 2005, FERC issued a letter
order accepting SPP’s September 27, 2005 filing
of a revised Interconnection Agreement with FPL
Energy Cowboy Wind, LLC and Public Service
Company of Oklahoma, effective March 1, 2005.

Calpine Oneta Power, L.P.

Initial Decision issued by the ALJ, CalpineOneta revenue requirements for reactive
service and Briefs on Exceptions, CalpineOneta revenue requirements for reactive
service

Financial Reporting and Cost
Recovery Practices for
Regional Transmission
Organizations and
Independent System
Operators

Final Rule on RTO cost accounting with an
effective date of January 1, 2006

On October 28, 2005 the administrative law judge
issued his initial decision, ordering that any and all
fixed costs that may be attributed to reactive
power capability are classified as generation, and
none may be charged to transmission customers
under the OATT, in Schedule 2 or otherwise.
Several briefs on exceptions and briefs opposing
exceptions have been filed.
On December 16, 2005, FERC issued Order 668 Final Rule regarding Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Public Utilities Including RTOs.
The Commission issued a notice granting motion
for extension of time until April 1, 2006 to give
affected public utilities and licensees time to meet
the requirements of Order 668.
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NO .

20.

21.

DOCKET

ER05-652

ER05-1519

CASE NAME

DESCRIPTION

CURRENT STATUS

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

SPP’s October 20, 2005 filing in
compliance with FERC’s September 20,
2005 Order on Rehearing of SPP’s February
28, 2005 cost allocation filing

On September 20, 2005 FERC issued an Order on
Rehearing and Compliance Filing addressing
rehearing requests of its April 22, 2005 order on
SPP's proposal for a regional transmission cost
allocation plan and accepting SPP's May 5, 2005
compliance filing, subject to further compliance
filings. FERC denied rehearing of most issues,
but granted rehearing of a limited number of
issues. FERC ordered SPP to remove the fuel
diversity provision from the non-exhaustive list of
waiver criteria, upheld the decision that
Attachment Z does not contain provisions for
impermissible "and" pricing, and granted certain
clarifications with respect to Attachment Z. On
October 20, 2005 SPP submitted a compliance
filing revising and clarifying various portions of
its OATT.

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

SPP filing and subsequent amendment of a
NITS Agreement with AEP.

On September 30, 2005 filed a NITS Agreement
with AEP, which SPP amended on October 26,
2005. FERC issued a letter order accepting SPP’s
NITS filing on December 7, 2005.
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NO .

22.

DOCKET

EC03-131

CASE NAME

Oklahoma Gas & Electric
Company and NRG McClain
LLC

DESCRIPTION

CURRENT STATUS

Redbud Energy LP response to OG&E and
SPP Responses to FERC Staff’s September
21, 2005 Data Requests; OG&E reply to
response of Redbud Energy LP; Notice of
Request for Comments in response to five
specific questions concerning the “600MW
Bridge”; and
Comments are due in response to five
specific questions concerning the “600MW
Bridge”

On September 21, 2005 FERC Staff issued data
requests to OG & E and SPP. SPP submitted its
initial response on October 3, 2005,
supplementing that response on October 11. On
October 24, 2005, Redbud Energy LP submitted
its response to compliance reports of OG&E and
SPP. OG & E filed a reply, correcting
misstatements contained in Redbud’s Response,
on November 29, 2005. A technical conference
was held December 1, 2005 to discuss whether
OG & E’s upgrades resulted in an additional 600
MWs of available transmission capacity, as
required by the July 2004 Order. On December 8,
2005 FERC issued a Notice of Request for
Comments in this docket. Redbud Energy LP &
OG & E have filed post-conference comments.
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NO .

DOCKET

CASE NAME

DESCRIPTION

CURRENT STATUS

SPP and MISO joint filing of revisions to
the Joint Operating Agreement (“JOA”) and
the Congestion Management Process
(“CMP”), effective December 1, 2005

23.

ER06-15

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

Deficiency letter SPP/MISO filing of
revisions to the Joint Operating Agreement
(“JOA”) and the Congestion Management
Process (“CMP”) for: 1) clarifications of
some of the changes, and 2) consistency
between the agreement and the CMP
Southwest Power Pool requests an
extension of time until January 11, 2006 to
comply with the December 5, 2005
Deficiency Letter

On October 6, 2005, SPP and MISO submitted
revisions to the JOA and CMP. On December 5,
2005, FERC issued a deficiency letter directing
SPP to provide additional information. On January
5, 2006, FERC approved SPP’s January 4 request
for a one-week extension of time for its
compliance filing until January 11, 2006.

Notice granting Southwest Power Pool Inc's
January 4, 2006 request for an extension of
time until January 11, 2006 to comply with
the December 5, 2005 Deficiency Letter

24.

RM05-30

Rules Concerning
Certification of the Electric
Reliability Organization; and
Procedures for the
Establishment, Approval, and
Enforcement of Electric
Reliability Standards

SPP filed Comments on FERC's ERO
NOPR.
November 18, 2005 FERC Technical
Conference on Electric Reliability
Organizations and SPP’s comments

October 7, 2005, SPP issued its response to
request for comments re: electric reliability
organization notice of proposed rulemaking. SPP
requested that FERC provide a final rule on the
ERO that allows for regional differences in the
approach to provide reliability services. A
technical conference was held on November 18,
2005, and SPP posted its respective comments on
December 8, 2005. Numerous comments have
been filed in this docket.
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NO .

DOCKET

25.

ER05-1352

26.

EC06-4-000; ER0620-000

CASE NAME

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

LG&E Energy LLC

DESCRIPTION

SPP’s December 12, 2005 Compliance
Filing pursuant to the October 7 Order,
providing revisions and clarifications to its
Bylaws and Membership Agreement

LG&E Filing

CURRENT STATUS
On October 7, 2005 issued an order granting
waiver of the 60 day notice requirement of the
FPA and accepting SPP’s proposed tariff sheets
subject to modification, to become effective
August 10, 2005. FERC also directed SPP to
make a compliance filing within 30 days.
November 7, 2005, SPP requested an extension
until December 12, 2005 to submit its compliance
filing pursuant to the October 7 Order. FERC
granted this request on November 14, 2005. On
December 7, 2005, FERC issued an order granting
rehearing for further consideration. Then, on
December 12, 2005 SPP submitted its compliance
filing, which provided revisions and clarifications
to its Bylaws and Membership Agreement.
October 7, 2005 LG&E Energy LLC, filed an
application with the Commission seeking
acceptance of certain rates, terms, and conditions
necessary for them to: (i) withdraw from the
Midwest Independent Transmission System
Operator, Inc. and regain operational control of
their respective transmission systems; (ii) install a
third party to act as reliability coordinator for their
transmission facilities; and (iii) install an
independent third party to act as tariff
administrator for their transmission system. LG &
E Energy also requested that FERC find that their
withdrawal from the Midwest ISO satisfies certain
merger conditions previously proposed &
approved. Several motions to intervene and
comments have been filed in this docket.
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NO .

27.

DOCKET

ER05-1307-000

CASE NAME

North America Electric
Reliability Council

DESCRIPTION

FERC Order on NERC TLR Procedures

Kansas City Power and Light
Company
28.

ER02-1406-006;
ER99-1005-004

Great Plains Power, Inc.

Aquila Merchant Services, Inc.
29.

EL05-16-000
Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

30.

RM02-12-000

Standardization of Small
Generator Interconnection
Agreements and Procedures

CURRENT STATUS
On October 7, 2005 FERC granted NERC’s
request for waiver of the Commission’s prior
notice requirements; accepted for filing NERC’s
proposed revisions to its TLR procedures, to
become effective on August 8, 2005; and ordered
that every transmission-operating public utility
adopting NERC’s proposed revision to its TLR
procedures shall file with the Commission, within
30 days of the date of this order, revised tariffs
sheets adopting the revised TLR procedures.
SPP’s Tariff incorporates these new procedures by
reference.

FERC Order on Market Power

On October 21, 2005 FERC issued an Order on
Market-Based Rates, Accepting Notice of
Cancellation and Terminating Section 206
Proceeding in Docket No. ER99-1005-004

FERC order denying the Aquila complaint
on SPP’s application of billing caps to
redirected service and approving the
uncontested settlement

On October 20, 2005 FERC issued an order
approving uncontested settlement and denying
complaint re: Aquila & SPP.

Compliance deadline under Order No. 2006,
for ISOs RTOs to propose “independent
entity” variations from the pro forma SGIP
and SGIA

On November 22, 2005, the Commission granted
rehearing in part, denied rehearing in part, and
clarified certain determinations in Order No. 2006.
FERC ISO New England an extension of time
until March 10, 2006 to comply with Order No.
2006.
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NO .

DOCKET

CASE NAME

DESCRIPTION
Initial meeting of the Joint Board on
Security Constrained Economic Dispatch
for the South region in Palm Springs, CA

31.

AD05-13-000

Joint Boards on Security
Constrained Economic
Dispatch

Comments of SPP on Security Constrained
Economic Dispatch for the South region in
Palm Springs dated December 5, 2005.
Announcement of further joint board
meeting for the South region for February
12, 2006

32.

ER05-1416

33.

RM05-25-000

34.

ER06-257-000

CURRENT STATUS
The initial joint board meeting for the South
region occurred on Sunday, November 13, 2005 in
Palm Springs, California. On December 2, 2005
SPP filed comments on South Joint Board for
Economic Dispatch Meeting. On January 6, 2006,
FERC announced that a further joint board
meeting for the South region will be held February
12, 2006 in Washington, D.C.

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

Filing of SPP’s Request for Rehearing and
Clarification of FERC’s October 27, 2005
order denying SPP’s limitation of roll-over
rights in a service agreement with Xcel

On November 28, 2005, SPP submitted its
compliance filing providing for a revision to the
Service Agreement for Long-Term Firm Point-toPoint Transmission Service Agreement, etc. SPP
also filed a request for rehearing and clarification
of FERC’s October 27 Order. Xcel Energy
Services, Inc. and Edison Electric Institute filed
motions to intervene out of time.

Preventing Undue
Discrimination and Preference
in Transmission Service

SPP Comments on NOI, Preventing Undue
Discrimination and Preference In
Transmission Services

On November 30, 2005, SPP filed comments to
notice of inquiry and request for leave to file
comments out of time.

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

SPP filing of an Unexecuted Service
Agreement for Network Integration
Transmission Service between SPP and
Associated Electric Cooperative as well as
an Unexecuted Network Operating
Agreement between SPP, Associated and
Oklahoma Gas and Electric Company

On November 30, 2005, SPP submitted an
unexecuted service agreement for Network
Integration Transmission Service with Associated
Electric Cooperative, Inc. OG & E filed a motion
to intervene and protest on December 21, 2005.
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NO .

35.

36.

DOCKET

RM05-4-001

ER06-344-000

CASE NAME

Interconnection for Wind
Energy

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

DESCRIPTION

FERC issued Order No. 661-A, requiring
rehearing and clarification of its Final Rule
on Interconnection for Wind Energy, Order
No. 661.

SPP files revisions to Attachment AD of its
Open Access Transmission Tariff to modify
and extend the Tariff Administration
Agreement w/Southwestern Power
Administration
SPP files proposed changes to its Open
Access Transmission Tariff to implement a
real-time energy imbalance market

37.

ER06-451

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

38.

ER06-432

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

SPP filing of tariff provisions to adopt new
Credit Policy

Empire District Electric
Application to Transfer
Functional Control to the
Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

Empire District Electric application with the
APSC for approval to transfer transmission
assets to SPP

39.

Arkansas
05-132-U

CURRENT STATUS
On December 12, 2005, the Commission issued
Order No. 661-A, which granted in part and
denied in part requests for rehearing and
clarification of Order No. 611 . (Order No. 661
requires that public utilities that own, control, or
operate facilities for transmitting electric energy in
interstate commerce, add standard procedures and
technical requirements for the interconnection of
large wind generation to their OATT standard
large generator interconnection procedures and
large generator interconnection agreements.)
On December 19, 2005 SPP submitted revisions to
Attachment AD of its OATT to modify the Tariff
Administration Agreement w/Southwestern Power
Administration.
On January 4, 2006 SPP filed proposed changes to
its OATT to implement a real-time energy
imbalance market. SPP requested that the
proposed tariff sheets become effective on May 1,
2006.
On December 30, 2005 SPP filed revisions to its
OATT, with a requested effective date of March 1,
2006. SPP included the Credit Policy as
Attachment X of the Tariff and also submitted
additional tariff revisions which are required to
accommodate the inclusion of its Credit Policy.
On November 14, 2005, Empire District Electric
submitted an application with the Arkansas Public
Service Commission for transfer of functional
control of certain transmission assets to SPP. This
docket was consolidated with 05-132-U on
November 22, 2005.

31 of 127

SPP BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE QUARTERLY REPORT
4Q 2005

NO .

40.

41.

42.

43.

44.

DOCKET

Arkansas
04-137-U

Arkansas
04-050-U

Kansas
06-SPPE-202-COC

CASE NAME

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

Entergy Services, Inc.

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

Louisiana
U-28155

Entergy Services, Inc.

Missouri
EO-2006-0141;
EO-2006-0142

In the Matter of the
Applications of the Empire
District Electric Company and
Kansas City Power & Light
Company for Authority to
Transfer Functional Control of
Certain Transmission Assets to
SPP

DESCRIPTION

CURRENT STATUS

SPP Application before the Arkansas Public
Service Commission for a Certificate of
Public Convenience and Necessity

On January 10, 2006, the Arkansas Public Service
Commission issued an order scheduling a public
evidentiary hearing on SPP’s Application for April
4, 2006. Arkansas Electric Cooperative Corp.,
Oklahoma Gas and Electric Co., Southwestern
Electric Power Co., and the Empire District
Electric Co. are interveners in this docket.

An Investigation regarding Entergy
Arkansas, Inc.’s participation in an Entergyonly independent transmission system
administrator structure as compared to its
participation in the Southwest Power Pool
Regional Transmission Organization.
An application of SPP for a Certificate of
Convenience and Authority for the limited
purpose of managing and coordinating the
use of certain transmission facilities located
within Kansas. Kansas also consolidated the
applications of SPP and Kansas
jurisdictional transmission owners for
transfer of functional control of assets.
LPSC Hearing on Entergy’s ICT proposal

Procedural conference concerning
Applications to the MPSC of Empire
District and Kansas City Power & Light
Company for Authority to Transfer
Functional Control of Assets to the
Southwest Power Pool

SPP has filed initial and reply comments in the
proceeding.

On August 31, 2005 SPP applied for a Certificate
of Convenience and Authority for the limited
purpose of managing and coordinating the use of
certain transmission facilities within Kansas. A
technical conference was held on December 13,
2005. No decision has been issued in this docket.
October 17-25, 2005 a hearing was held on
Entergy’s ICT proposal. Post hearing briefs and
reply briefs have been submitted in this docket.
Draft order is pending FERC decision on ICT.
On December 1, 2005 a procedural conference
was held concerning Applications to the MPSC of
Empire District and Kansas City Power & Light
Company for Authority to Transfer Functional
Control of Assets to SPP. A series of settlement
conferences have been convened to reach a service
agreement and stipulated settlement, with a track
for either settlement or hearing established.
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LEGAL MATTERS PENDING

Party/Description

Issue

Reliant Energy

Disputed withdrawal fee. Full withdrawal fees paid
by Reliant Energy.

City of Jonesboro

Demand letter sent for repayment of membership
overpayment.
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EXECUTIVE INDUSTRY ACTIVITIES
Executive

Event

Nick Brown

Electric Power Research Institute Board Meeting, Dallas (Nov. 15-16)
ISO/RTO Council Meeting, Washington, D.C. (Dec. 12-13)

Les Dillahunty

GRDA Board Meeting, (Oct. 4-5)
LPSC Entergy ICT Hearing, Baton Rouge (Oct. 17-18)
Member Meeting: Lafayette Utilities System, Lafayette (Oct. 20)
Kansas Transmission Summit, Topeka (Oct. 31)
NARUC (Nov. 14-16)
Kansas CCN Technical Conference, Topeka (Dec. 13)
Missouri Public Service Commission, Jefferson City, MO (Dec. 12-21)

Tom Dunn

Member Meeting: East Texas Electric Cooperative (Oct. 20)
Empire District Electric Board Meeting (Oct. 26)
Member Meeting: City of Springfield Utilities (Nov. 29)
Member Meeting: Empire District (Dec. 7)
Member Meeting: Aquila & Kansas City Power & Light (Dec. 8)
Missouri Public Service Commission, Jefferson City, MO (Dec. 21)

Stacy Duckett

ISO/RTO Council (Oct. 19)
ISO/RTO Council Communications Meeting, Dallas (Oct. 27-28)

Carl Monroe

Member Meeting: Lafayette (Oct. 20)
Member Meeting: Empire District (Oct. 26)
2005 RTO Executive Symposium, Las Vegas (Nov. 2-3)
South Joint Board on Economic Dispatch, Indian Wells, CA (Nov 13)
Member Meeting: Entergy (Nov 17)
FERC Hotline Call (Nov 18)
Congestion Management Process Committee (Nov 29)
FERC Tech Conference for RedBud (Dec. 1)
Member Meeting: GRDA (Dec. 7)
Kansas CCN Technical Conference, Topeka (Dec. 13)
Member Meeting : Xcel (Dec. 20)

Charles Yeung

NAESB BPS, Houston (Oct. 4-5)
RE DA w/EEI, Washington D.C. (Oct. 18)
NERC Stakeholders Meeting , Princeton, (Oct. 31 – Nov. 1)
T & D Summit, West Palm Beach (Nov. 7-8)
FERC Technical Conference, Washington D.C. (Nov. 18)
NERC RMC, St. Petersburg (Dec.7-8)
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WITHDRAWAL LETTERS
MEMBERS

EFFECTIVE DATES

Cleco Corporation

10/31/06

Louisiana Energy & Power Authority

10/31/06

City of Lafayette Utilities System

10/31/06

Midwest Energy

10/31/06

The Empire District Electric Company

10/31/06

Westar Energy

10/31/06

Duke Energy

12/01/06
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STAFFING REPORT
SPP Employee count as of January 1, 2005:

131

1Q New hires:
2Q New hires:
3Q New hires:
4Q New hires:

8
11
16
12

YTD Terminations:
1 – Retiree
7 – Voluntary termination
1 – Involuntary termination
1 – Interns (part time/seasonal)

10

SPP Employee count as of December 31, 2005:

168

SPP Employee count as of September 30, 2005:

157

There are 236 full time employees in the 2006 budget.

36 of 127

Strategic Plan
July 26, 2005

Status Report
January 31, 2006

37 of 127

SPP Strategic Plan____________________________________

January 31, 2006 Status Report

MARKETS DEVELOPMENT
SPP should continue with the implementation of an Energy Imbalance Market for the region.
Additional market development should be considered, but only following cost/benefit studies
and/or an assessment of customers as to their needs for these additional services. In contrast to
the 2003 Strategic Plan, SPP will consider ancillary services markets in advance of market-based
congestion management, as these markets are of most interest to customers and stand to provide
more immediate benefits. SPP will defer any transition to financial transmission rights (FTRs)
until otherwise recommended by the RSC, as is its responsibility per the SPP Bylaws. SPP must
also continuously monitor and manage the impact of its various seams/coordination agreements
on its operations.
The following steps should be taken:
1. Implementation of the Energy Imbalance Market with regular status reports provided to
and progress monitored by the Markets and Operations Policy Committee (MOPC), the
Regional State Committee (RSC) and the SPC.
2. Continued attention by staff to seams/coordination agreements and their impacts, with
appropriate reporting to the stakeholder committees.
3. Development of a proposal for the development and implementation of other market
services, starting with ancillary services markets, as assigned by the MOPC.

STATUS
Implementation of the EIS Market is proceeding with a scheduled go-live date of May 1. Regular
project and participant readiness status reports are provided to the Board of Directors/Members
Committee, the RSC, the MOPC, and the SPC.
Staff continues discussions with and attention to seams partners/issues as market implementation
progresses.
The Market Working Group is developing proposals for implementation of other market
services, including a request for a cost/benefit study to be conducted in October 2006.

1
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TRANSMISSION EXPANSION
Additional transmission infrastructure is needed across the country, including in the SPP region.
The RSC developed and FERC has approved a plan for the funding of transmission expansion
that is beneficial to the region for reliability. Evaluation of a funding mechanism for those
upgrades that provide only economic benefits to the region is underway. SPP also received
approval for an experimental program allowing participants to pre-pay for minor upgrades
specifically benefiting short-term transmission transactions.
The following steps should be taken:
1. Follow-through on the approved transmission expansion funding plan for upgrades
meeting reliability needs.
2. Continue development by the RSC, and SPP stakeholder committees as appropriate, of a
funding plan for transmission expansion for upgrades providing only economic benefits
to the region.
3. Evaluate and continue, if deemed appropriate, on a permanent basis the FERC-approved
experimental pre-payment program for upgrades for short-term transmission service.
4. Review of all these new funding plans to assure that no “unintended consequences” arise,
and if so, ensure that they are presented for consideration and mitigation.

STATUS
The SPP Board of Directors approved the reliability projects identified in the SPP RTO
Expansion Plan (SREP) in April 2005. This SREP included 89 new or accelerated projects
totally $172M of additional investment over the 2005 – 2010 planning horizon that would be
Base Plan Funded. SPP staff updates the SREP every 4 months, consistent with the aggregate
study process, to incorporate changes regarding existing or new projects. SPP staff has integrated
the planning and tariff study processes with the advent of the FERC approved aggregate study
process for Transmission Service Requests. SPP staff has completed the facilities study
associated with Aggregate Study 2. This study identified 21 projects, which will be required to
maintain reliability.
SPP has created a Base Plan Guidelines Task Force to develop regional guidelines for identifying
which proposed SPP transmission upgrades will be classified as “Base Plan Upgrade” projects to
assist implementation of tariff Attachment J in the first quarter of 2006. SPP has initiated a new
Reliability Assessment for the next SREP, which will be completed in 2006.
SPP filed for and received approval to continue its pre-payment program for upgrades for short
term transmission service.

2
39 of 127

SPP Strategic Plan____________________________________

January 31, 2006 Status Report

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCESSES
SPP’s administrative processes should continue to be reviewed and adjusted to assure efficiency
in the stakeholder process/organizational group structure including interaction with the RSC and
its working groups. Included in this review is the consideration of additional Board of
Directors/Members Committee meetings on an as needed and practical basis.
The following steps should be taken:
1. SPP staff should encourage Director involvement in organizational group meetings to
enhance understanding of issues, process, and diverse positions.
2. SPP staff and members should coordinate site visits for Directors to enhance industry and
organizational knowledge.
3. Two additional Board of Directors/Member Committee meetings should be added
annually focused on education and administrative process rather than business/action
items.

STATUS
SPP’s director compensation policy has been broadened to cover director participation in
organizational groups to which they are not specifically assigned. Directors are attending various
organizational group meetings on a regular basis.
Several Directors have visited Member company sites; more visits are planned during 2006.
Two Board meetings have been added to the annual calendar: one in June focused on education
and training; another in December focused on organizational effectiveness/administration. The
first such meeting was held in December 2005. Additionally, the ISO/RTO Council has
scheduled a joint retreat for their boards to discuss issues of common interest and share
approaches to issue resolution and cost control.

3
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RETENTION AND ADDITION OF PARTICIPANTS
SPP should focus on the retention of existing Members and addition of new and/or former
participants in the organization, including members, customers, and state regulatory
representatives. This will allow the organization to grow and develop as a service provider and
strong leader for the region.
The following steps should be taken:
1. SPP Staff should pursue an analysis to improve understanding of the Charles River
Associates cost/benefit study regarding the benefits of utilities participating in SPP for
purposes of mitigating any perceived negative results.
2. SPP should consider and implement, as appropriate, waiver of withdrawal obligation fees
for Large Retail Customer Members, Small Retail Customer Members, and Public
Interest/Alternative Power Members so long as such a Member is not a Market
Participant as defined in the SPP OATT.
3. SPP Staff should continue to develop customer services and programs for members and
customers, such as reserve sharing, reliability coordination, and transmission
coordination.
4. SPP Staff should place a priority on working with FERC for revision of the application of
its annual fee, mitigating unfair impacts to RTOs.

STATUS
In the three states where SPP or its members have made filings for the transfer of functional
control of transmission facilities (Arkansas, Kansas, and Missouri), the CRA Cost/Benefit Study
and supporting testimony have been filed. CRA completed a limited cost/benefit study update
focusing on the impact of higher gas costs upon the original Study results; SPP made a late
December 2005 filing in Arkansas reflecting this update. Proceedings in these three states are
expected to move to hearings or conclusion in the Spring of 2006. The SPP RSC will receive a
report in January on the updated study results.
SPP filed revisions to the Bylaws to waive withdrawal obligations for the specified membership
sectors. This filing was rejected by the Commission. A subsequent filing has been made and is
pending related to waiver of the annual membership fee.
A final order from FERC on Entergy’s ICT proposal with SPP serving in this capacity is
pending. Meanwhile, SPP was selected by and has entered into a contract with Entergy to audit
their AFC calculation process, a preliminary step in assuming ICT responsibilities for Entergy.
A final or near final audit report will be presented at the next stakeholder meeting February 1.
We have signed a letter of intent with LG&E to perform Independent Transmission Organization
(ITO) services including tariff administration, scheduling, OASIS system, and generation
interconnection processing. SPP has begun the initial development necessary to provide the
services scheduled for an April 1, 2006 implementation. FERC approval is pending.
There is no update regarding the FERC annual fee.
4
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ENHANCED REGIONAL PLANNING
SPP is in a unique position as a regional transmission and reliability organization. It can serve as
a conduit for various issues and positions that impact localities, states, the region, and national
matters. Given the success with the development of regional transmission planning, SPP should
consider other ways in which it can be a leader/facilitator/coordinator of regional solutions for
regional issues, including generation planning, economic impacts of alternative energy sources
and its development, and integrated resource planning.
The following steps should be taken:
1. SPP staff will develop a white paper for the SPC addressing the expansion of its portfolio
of services and the impact on the organization to do so.
2. SPP will host a technical conference for educational purposes, to coordinate/facilitate
discussion of various issues of interest in the region.
3. SPP staff and the SPC will support the RSC’s efforts to evaluate the need for and
develop, when appropriate, a practical integrated resource solution for the region.

STATUS
Expansion of services and the technical conference will be further addressed in long term
planning.
Staff presented a paper to the SPC at its October 2005 meeting addressing an integrated resource
planning approach for the SPP region. The SPC voted to suspend efforts associated with the
issue at this time given the other demands on the organization.

5
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LONG-RANGE PLANNING
The Strategic Planning Committee will approach strategic planning with a more long-term and
proactive orientation in its upcoming meetings.

STATUS
The Chairman of the SPC is forming a smaller group of members and staff to develop an
approach to longer term strategic planning for the organization, as well as an initial draft of a
plan. This group will convene during the first half of 2006.

6
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
Report to the Board of Directors
January 31, 2006

BOARD APPOINTMENT OF COMMITTEE REPRESENTATION
Organizational Roster
The following members represent the Corporate Governance Committee:
Nick Brown, Chair
Jim Eckelberger
Kevin Easley
Steve Parr
Mel Perkins
Jim Stanton

Director
Director
Grand River Dam Authority
KepCO
OG+E
Calpine

Background
Dave Christiano, City Utilities of Springfield, retired at the end of 2005. He represented the Municipals
sector of the membership on the Members Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee, as well
as the Transmission Using sector of the membership on the Strategic Planning Committee.
Analysis
As relates to vacancies on the Members Committee, in accordance with Section 5.1.4 Vacancies in the
Bylaws:
“If a vacancy occurs the Corporate Governance Committee may elect an interim
representative from the same sector to serve until a replacement representative from the
same sector is elected and takes office. A special election shall be held at the next
meeting of Members to fill the vacancy for the unexpired term.”
The Corporate Governance Committee met for purposes of selecting an interim representative, that being
Jeff Knottek from City Utilities of Springfield.
As relates to vacancies on the Corporate Governance Committee, in accordance with Section 6.6
Corporate Governance Committee in the Bylaws:
“Where a vacancy occurs with respect to a representative of a sector, the representatives
from the appropriate sector will fill the vacancy.”
Representatives from the Municipals sector of the Membership have selected Harry Dawson from
Oklahoma Municipal Power Authority to fill the vacancy on the Corporate Governance Committee.
As relates to vacancies on the Strategic Planning Committee, in accordance with Section 6.2 Strategic
Planning Committee in the Bylaws:
“Where a vacancy occurs the Corporate Governance Committee will fill the vacancy on
an interim basis until the next meeting of the Board of Directors.”
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The Corporate Governance Committee selected Kevin Easley (Transmission Using member, GRDA) as
the interim representative to the Strategic Planning Committee and nominates him to the Board of
Directors for appointment.
Recommendation
1) The Corporate Governance Committee asks that the Board of Directors recognize Jeff Knottek
from City Utilities of Springfield as the representative of the Municipals membership sector on the
Members Committee until such time as a special meeting of members can be convened for an
election.
2) The Corporate Governance Committee asks that the Board of Directors recognize Harry Dawson
from Oklahoma Municipal Power Authority as the representative of the Municipals membership
sector on the Corporate Governance Committee effective immediately.
3) The Corporate Governance Committee nominates Kevin Easley for appointment to the Strategic
Planning Committee to fill the Transmission Using member vacancy.

Approved:

Corporate Governance Committee

Action Requested:

Approve Recommendation

January 23, 2006
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
MARKETS AND OPERATIONS POLICY COMMITTEE
Recommendation to the Board of Directors/Members Committee
January 31, 2006

Organizational Roster
The following members represent the Regional Tariff Working Group:
AEP-West
Arkansas Electric Cooperative Corp.
Calpine Energy Services
East Texas Electric Cooperative
Empire District Electric Co.
Kansas City Power & Light
Kansas Electric Power Cooperative
Lafayette Utilities System
Midwest Energy
Missouri Public Service Commission
OG+E Electric Services
Oklahoma Municipal Power
Redbud Energy LP
Southwest Power Pool
Southwestern Public Service Co.
Tenaska Power Services Co.
Westar Energy
Western Farmers Electric

Mr. Dennis Bethel
Mr. Ricky Bittle
Mr. James Stanton
Mr. David Brian
Mr. Bary Warren
Mr. Charles Locke
Mr. Robert Bowser
Mr. Ron Gary
Mr. Bill Dowling
Mr. Mike Proctor
Mr. John Gunesch Jr.
Mr. Gene Anderson
Mr. Orlando Martinez
Mr. Pat Bourne
Mr. Bernard Liu
Mr. Mark Foreman
Mr. Dennis Reed
Mr. Mitchell Williams

The following stakeholders participated in group discussions:
AEP-West
AEP-West
Arkansas Electric Cooperative Corp.
Arkansas Electric Cooperative Corp.
Calpine Energy Services
East Texas Electric Cooperative
Empire District Electric Co.
Kansas City Power & Light
Kansas Corporation Commission
Kansas Electric Power Cooperative
Lafayette Utilities System
Midwest Energy
Missouri Public Service Commission
Occidental Energy Ventures
OG+E Electric Services

Mr. Dennis Bethel
Mr. Richard Ross
Mr. Ricky Bittle
Mr. Robert Shields
Mr. James Stanton
Mr. David Brian
Mr. Bary Warren
Mr. Charles Locke
Mr. Tom DeBaun
Mr. Robert Bowser
Mr. Ron Gary
Mr. Bill Dowling
Mr. Mike Proctor
Mr. Tim Soles
Mr. David Kays
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OG+E Electric Services
Oklahoma Municipal Power Authority
Southwestern Power Administration
Southwest Power Pool
Southwest Power Pool
Southwest Power Pool
Southwestern Public Service Co.
Southwestern Public Service Co
Tenaska Power Services Co.
Westar Energy
Westar Energy
Western Farmers Electric
Golden Spread Electric Coop.

Mr. John Gunesch Jr.
Mr. Gene Anderson
Ms. Tracey Stewart
Mr. Les Dillahunty
Mr. Richard Dillon
Mr. Pat Bourne
Mr. Bernard Liu
Mr. Tim Woolley
Mr. Mark Foreman
Mr. Shah Hossain
Mr. Dennis Reed
Mr. Mitchell Williams
Mr. Michael Wise

Background
Tariff Modifications – Attachment M – Loss Compensation Procedure
PRR 049, Loss Scheduling Requirements, was approved by the MOPC at its November 30 meeting. The
Tariff changes proposed provide for migration from Houston Ship Channel gas cost pricing to the purchase
of losses with all priced at the relevant LIP. The MWG proposed modifications to Attachment M Tariff
language to implement the change in procedures. The RTWG has completed its review of the MWG
proposed language, making minor modifications to it.
Analysis
Tariff Modifications – Attachment M – Loss Compensation Procedure
At its meeting on January 5, 2006, the RTWG unanimously approved its proposed modifications to Tariff
Attachment M to implement change in procedures specified in PRR 049.

Recommendation
The MOPC recommends that the BOD approve the proposed changes to Tariff Attachment M, Loss
Compensation Procedure.

Approved:

Regional Tariff Working Group
Unanimous

January 5, 2006

Markets and Operations Policy Committee
Two opposed

January 17, 2006

Action Requested:

Approve Recommendation

Attachments:

MWG Mark-Up Modified by the RTWG 1-05-06 Compared to the Currently Effective
Attachment M
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MWG Mark-up Modified by the RTWG 1-05-06
Compared to the Currently Effective Attachment M
ATTACHMENT M
LOSS COMPENSATION PROCEDURE

I. PURPOSE
This loss compensation procedure will be used to quantify transmission loss energy that
the Transmission Customer is required to replace to the Transmission Owner(s) under this Tariff.
The Transmission Customer shall be responsible for replacing the losses due on a real time basis.
The Transmission Customer shall replace the loss energy to the Control Area(s) affected by the

Deleted: deliver

transactions in accordance with the options set forth below.
Each Transmission Owner shall maintain a schedule showing its allocation of loss energy
for the provision of transmission service on its system.

For the Commission regulated

Transmission Owners, these allocations shall be pursuant to Commission approved schedules.
The average loss factor (LAVG) for each Transmission Owner is stated in Appendix 1 to this

Deleted: are

Attachment M.
II.

LOSS DETERMINATION - NETWORK INTEGRATION TRANSMISSION
SERVICE
The Network Customer is responsible for replacing losses, associated with Network

Integration Transmission Service to its Network Load, to each Zone in which its Network Load
is located. The Network Customer’s loss responsibility is the product of the Zone loss factor and
the energy delivered within that Zone by the Network Customer.
Where a Network Customer has designated Network Load not physically interconnected
with the Transmission System under Section 31.3, the Network Customer is responsible for
replacing losses, associated with Network Integration Transmission Service to its Network Load,
for schedules from Network Resources (as well as other non-designated generation resources)
located within the Transmission System. These losses will be determined, and allocated to the
Transmission Owners, in the same manner as losses for Point-To-Point Transmission Service.
III. LOSS DETERMINATION - POINT-TO-POINT TRANSMISSION SERVICE
The Transmission Provider shall calculate a loss matrix twice each year to show the
composite loss factors for each transaction, as a percentage of the transaction, based on the total
of each Transmission Owner’s pro rata MW-mile impact multiplied by the applicable loss factor
for energy for such Transmission Owner. The factors for inclusion in the loss matrix shall be
determined as follows:

1
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MWG Mark-up Modified by the RTWG 1-05-06
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1)

For each Transmission Owner, determine a Transaction Participation Factor
(TPF) which is the MW-mile impact on that Owner expressed as a percentage of
the MW-mile impacts on all Transmission Owners for the given transaction. The
MW mile impacts will be calculated in accordance with Attachment S.

2)

The seasonal application of the individual Transmission Owner’s loss factors
under this Tariff shall be consistent with the Transmission Provider’s seasonal
calculation of the MW-Mile impact factors under Attachment S.

3)

Calculate a weighted system loss factor for each transaction as the sum of the
products of: TPF x LAVG for the system of each Transmission Owner.

The amount of loss energy supplied to and to be replaced by each Transmission Customer for
each transaction will be determined by multiplying the MWh’s of the schedule by the composite
loss factor for the transaction. The amount of loss energy supplied by and to be replaced to each
Transmission Owner for each transaction will be determined by multiplying the MW’s of the
schedule by that Owner’s TPF and loss factor (LAVG). The Transmission Customer shall
replace the loss energy shown in the loss matrix (as a percentage of the transaction) to the
Transmission Owners for each transaction. The Transmission Provider shall be responsible for
allocating the replaced loss energy among the Transmission Owners consistent with the above
methodology.
Deleted: OPTIONAL ANNUAL
PURCHASE OF LOSS ENERGY

IV. SETTLEMENT OF LOSSES
A. Transactions Into or Within the Transmission System
A Transmission Customer may meet its obligation to replace loss energy under

Deleted: The

the Tariff that is associated with all transactions into or within the Transmission System
through self-supply and/or purchase of Imbalance Energy. Losses associated with all
transactions into and within the Transmission System shall be determined in accordance
with the provisions of this Attachment M and priced in conjunction with the operation
and settlement of the Energy Imbalance Service Market as described in Attachment AE.
B. Transactions Through and Out of the Transmission System
Losses associated with all transactions through and out of the Transmission
System shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of this Attachment M and
settled by self-supply or financially pursuant to the provisions for the Optional Annual
Purchase of Loss Energy set out below, for such transactions.
1. Optional Annual Purchase of Loss Energy

2
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MWG Mark-up Modified by the RTWG 1-05-06
Compared to the Currently Effective Attachment M
The Transmission Customer may meet its obligation to replace loss energy
for all transactions through and out of the Transmission System under the Tariff
by electing to purchase all such loss energy for which it is responsible under this
Tariff on an annual basis. Such election will be for a full calendar year and shall
be exercised by execution of a Service Agreement for Loss Compensation
Service, Attachment N, on or before December 1 of the prior calendar year.
Under this Agreement, the Transmission Customer will purchase the specified
quantity of loss energy for all such transactions under this Tariff.

New

Transmission Customers may make such election at the time they first execute
Attachment A or Attachment B under this Tariff, but in no event at a time later
than the time at which they first take service under the Tariff.

In this

circumstance, the term of the election will be for the remainder of the calendar
Deleted: The Transmission Customers
will fully pay for such losses.

year.
Compensation for losses will be at a cost determined by multiplying the
MWh of loss energy by a Locational Imbalance Price (LIP). For transactions
through and out of the Transmission System, losses will be compensated at the
sum of the Loss Energies deemed to be supplied by each Transmission Owner
multiplied by the LIP of the pre-designated Settlement Location, for loss
purposes, associated with the Transmission Owner’s load. Each Transmission
Owner will receive revenue equal to the Loss Energies deemed to be supplied by
each Transmission Owner multiplied by the LIP of the pre-designated Settlement
Location, for loss purposes, associated with the Transmission Owner’s load.

2. Self-Provision of Losses and Payback of Self-Provided Losses
Losses that are self-provided for transactions through and out of the

Deleted: price index. The price index
will be determined by multiplying the
price of commodity gas times an
estimated average heat rate of 10.5
MMBtu/MWh. The price of commodity
gas will be determined each month as the
price published under the heading of
"Houston Ship
Deleted: Channel/Beaumont, Texas
Index", "large packages only", under the
subheading of Inside F.E.R.C.’s GAS
MARKET REPORT. The price will
become effective on the day after the
index is posted on the SPP OASIS and
remain effective until the day after the
next posting of the index. This index is
updated monthly.¶
¶
(gpi/MMBtu) * 10.5 (MMBtu/Mwh) =
$/Mwh¶
¶
Where: gpi = the "Houston Ship
Channel/Beaumont Texas Index."¶

Transmission System pursuant to this Attachment M will be delivered in real-time
to the Transmission Provider. The Transmission Provider will deliver those same
losses in real-time to a pre-determined load Settlement Location.

The

Deleted: shall be responsible for
allocating the revenue from the sale of
losses among the Transmission Owners
consistent with the above methodology
and Attachment L.¶

Transmission Provider will charge the Market Participant representing that
Settlement Location for the benefit of receiving the Loss Energy at a cost equal to
the LIP of that Settlement Location. Each Transmission Owner will receive
revenue equal to the Loss Energies deemed to be supplied by each Transmission

3

50 of 127
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Owner multiplied by the LIP of the pre-designated Settlement Location, for loss
purposes, associated with the Transmission Owner’s load. Any over or under
collection will be dealt with through the provisions of Section 5.5 of Attachment
AE of the Tariff.

4
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
MARKETS AND OPERATIONS POLICY COMMITTEE
Recommendation to the Board of Directors/Members Committee
January 31, 2006

Organizational Roster
The following members represent the Operating Reliability Working Group:
Gerry Burrows, KCP&L
Bob Cochran, SPS
Allen Klassen, Westar
Pete Kuebeck, OG&E
Steve Massey, Westar

Scott Moore, AEP (Chair)
Maxwell Reid, CLECO
Keith Sugg, AECC
Jim Thompson, Constellation Energy
Noman Williams, SECI

The following stakeholders participated in group discussions:
Gerry Burrows, KCP&L
Dan Boezio, AEP
Bob Cochran, SPS
Keith Comeaux, CLECO
Mike Crouch, WFEC
Will Franklin, Entergy
Mike Gammon, KCP&L
Don Hargrove, OG&E
Steve Hillman, WPEK
Shah Hossain, Westar

Jim Jacoby, AEP
Allen Klassen, Westar
Pete Kuebeck, OG&E
John Mason, MPS
Steve Massey, Westar
Scott Moore, AEP
Bill Nolte, SECI
Richard Ross, AEP
Keith Sugg, AECC

Background
The Operating Reliability Working Group (ORWG) is proposing changes to three sections of SPP Criteria
6. Two of these changes, in Section 6.3 and Section 6.4.2.h, are associated with Reserve Sharing Group
(RSG) functionality. The third change revises data reporting requirements following a reportable
contingency in Section 6.4.2.l.
Analysis
Section 6.3
During discussions surrounding the addition of new participants in the SPP RSG, it was determined that
Criteria does not contain minimum quantitative requirements specifying a participant’s Daily Minimum
Requirement. This could result in a participant, with a relatively small total firm obligation, having a Daily
Minimum Requirement of zero on a regular, if not continuous, basis. Such a participant would be able to
call on RSG reserves without contributing to the reserve pool. The proposed revision to Section 6.3, copy
attached, establishes a minimum Daily Minimum Requirement of 2 MW.
Section 6.4.2.h
The minimum reserve allocation that a participant must contribute following a contingency was set at 2
MW in Revision 2.5 of the ARS software in 2002. During the fall of 2005, it was discovered that Criteria
had not been revised to reflect this change even though the Operating Reserve Task Force (ORTF) and
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the ORWG had approved the change. The proposed revision to Section 6.4.2.h, copy attached, brings
Criteria in-line with existing functionality in the ARS software.
Section 6.4.2.l
At the ORWG’s request, SPP Staff recently developed a procedure outlining the Disturbance Control
Standard (DCS) analysis and reporting process within the SPP RSG. The procedure requires RSG
participants to submit DCS data within two days of SPP requesting the data. Staff and the ORWG
believe the quick turn around is necessary to reinforce the importance of the data and minimize reporting
deficiencies. Criteria currently provides participants a week to submit the data following the contingency
event.
Recommendation
The MOPC recommends the BOD approve the proposed revisions to SPP Criteria 6.

Approved:

Operating Reliability Working Group
Passed Unopposed
Markets and Operations Policy Committee
Passed Unopposed

Action Requested:

December 1, 2005

January 18, 2006

Approve Recommendation
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6.3 Minimum Daily Reserve Requirement
The Operating Reliability Working Group will set the Minimum Daily Contingency

Deleted: i

Reserve Requirement for the SPP Reserve Sharing Group. The SPP Reserve Sharing
Group will maintain a minimum first Contingency Reserve equal to the generating

Deleted:

capacity of largest unit scheduled to be on-line. Normally, the SPP Reserve Sharing
Group will add an additional Operating Reserve Requirement over and above its
Regulating Reserve and first Contingency Reserve equal to one-half of the next largest
generating unit scheduled to be on-line within the SPP Reserve Sharing Group each day
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(second Contingency Reserve). A Control Area’s Minimum Daily Requirement is equal to
a prorated amount of the SPP Reserve Sharing Group Minimum total Daily Contingency
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Reserve Requirement (first and second Contingency Reserves) based on the previous
day's actual Control Area Daily Peak Load Obligation. A Control Area’s Minimum Daily
Requirement shall be no less than two (2) MW.
Under emergency operating conditions, the Minimum total Daily Contingency Reserve
Requirement may be raised to the generating capability of the two largest generating
units scheduled to be on-line upon the concurrence of the chair or vice chair of either the
Engineering and Operating Committee or the Operating Reliability Working Group.
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Any increased reserves that are based on non-compliance with the NERC Disturbance
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Control Standard will raise the total first Contingency Reserve Requirement for the SPP
Reserve Sharing Group on a quarterly basis. The Operating Reliability Working Group
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will determine the method by which the increased reserves will be allocated among the
members of the SPP Reserve Sharing Group.
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6.4.2

Contingency Operation

These procedures shall be implemented immediately following the occurrence of an
Operating Reserve Contingency.
a.

Immediately following an Operating Reserve Contingency, the Contingency Area
shall report the occurrence via the SPP Computer Communication System. This
report shall contain a description of the contingency; the net MW lost due to the
contingency and any MW amount of Contingency Reserve being carried on the
contingency unit. For those generating units whose station auxiliaries do not
decrease to essentially zero or increase after a unit trip, gross MWs lost shall be
used instead of net MWs lost. The operating owner of jointly owned generating
units shall be responsible for reporting outages and the MW amount lost by each
owner.

b.

Within the constraints described in this Criteria, allocation magnitudes shall be
determined and notices distributed to the members of the Reserve Sharing
Group

c.

The maximum amount assigned to any Control Area for any single Operating
Reserve Contingency shall not exceed its Spinning Reserve requirement unless
the contingency reserve requirement exceeds the available Spinning Reserve of
the SPP Reserve Sharing Group. The additional responsibility shall be allocated
to other members of the SPP Reserve Sharing Group until the total Spinning
Reserves are exhausted. Any remaining responsibility shall be allocated to the
SPP Reserve Sharing Group by a similar procedure as the initial allocation out of
the total Ready Reserve. The Operating Reliability Working Group may adjust
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for any single member or for all members the maximum amount allocated.
d.

The Assistance Schedule becomes part of each Assisting Area's scheduled net
interchange and shall therefore be reflected in its ACE. The schedule shall be
implemented at a zero time ramp rate immediately following allocation
notification. If obvious and significant errors exist in assistance schedules, the
Contingency Area system operator shall dictate appropriate corrective action
during the Contingency Period, and notify the SPP.

e.

Assisting Areas shall immediately acknowledge receipt of the allocation notice
via the SPP Computer Communication System. If a Contingency Area fails to
receive acknowledgment from an Assisting Area, the Contingency Area shall use
the telephone to notify the Assisting Area of the assistance schedule.

55 of 127

f.

After the implementation of the allocation, the Contingency Area and Assisting
Areas shall report to the SPP, when their ACE returned to zero or it’s precontingency level whichever is achieved first.

e.

The Contingency Reserve Requirement of each Control Area involved in the
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Assistance Period shall be updated to reflect the reduction of responsibility until
the end of the Assistance Period.
f.

All allocations shall be rounded to the nearest whole MW with a minimum of 2
MW and the smallest amount of energy to be allocated shall be one MWH.

g.

After the contingency notification has been completed, the Contingency Area
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shall promptly make arrangements to replace the energy requirement created by
the Operating Reserve Contingency (including its Contingency Reserve
Allocation) prior to the end of the Assistance Period. The Contingency Area shall
make a reasonable effort to purchase capacity and firm transmission service
after utilization of its own resources.
h.

If assistance is needed by the Contingency Area for a period of time longer than
the initial Assistance Period, then this becomes an Other Extreme Condition and
shall be reported as a separate contingency.

i.

Each transmission provider shall immediately notify the SPP of the loss of
transmission interconnection capability affecting its interchange transfer
capability. The SPP shall update Group assignments for use during subsequent
Assistance Periods. Each transmission provider is responsible for notifying the
SPP once the contingency loss in the interchange transfer capability has been
restored so that Group assignments can be updated.

j.

For each reportable contingency (as defined by the Operating Reliability Working
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Group), the Contingency Area and Assisting Areas will send to SPP an electronic
data file in a SPP specified format that records ACE, Frequency Deviation, Net
Tie Deviation, and Net Interchange for 10 minutes prior to until 30 minutes after
the contingency within two days of the SPP request for this data. If electronic
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data is not available, this data will be supplied on the NERC required charts.
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
MARKETS AND OPERATIONS POLICY COMMITTEE
Recommendation to the Board of Directors/Members Committee
January 31, 2006

Organizational Rosters
The following members represent the ORWG:
Scott Moore
Gerry Burrows
Bob Cochran
Pete Kuebeck
Steve Massey
Maxwell Reid
Allen Klassen
Keith Sugg
Jim Thompson
Noman Williams
Robert Rhodes

American Electric Power - - Chairman
Kansas City Power & Light Company
Southwestern Public Service
Oklahoma Gas & Electric
Westar Energy
Cleco Power, LLC
Westar Energy
Arkansas Electric Cooperative Corporation
Constellation Energy
Sunflower Electric Power
Southwest Power Pool

The following members represent the SPCWG:
Fred Ipock
Bob Roach
Dean Sikes
Doug Jackson
Heidt Melson
Lynn Schroeder
Maurice S. Robinson
Shawn W. Jacobs
John Boshears

City Utilities (Springfield, MO) - - Chairman
Kansas City Power & Light Company
Cleco Power, LLC
American Electric Power
Xcel Energy
Westar Energy
Arkansas Electric Cooperative Corporation
OG+E Electric Services
Southwest Power Pool

Background
SPP Criteria 7.3 Under-Frequency Load Shedding and Restoration are designed to provide load relief
and minimize the probability of network collapse in the event of a major disturbance among the
participants of an interconnected bulk electric system.
In the past the SPP companies were requested to set up a UFLS scheme whereby 30% of their summer
peak load would be shed in 10% steps, if the system frequency deteriorated to preset levels.
The amount of load to be shed was changed from being based on the summer peak to the current load
with the following definition. “Current load shall be deemed as the one-minute average of the member’s
load prior to the first under-frequency relay action taken at 59.3 Hz.” This changed the amount from a
fixed yearly calculation to a moving target.
Some SPP companies have not been able to meet the UFLS criteria as it is written. To provide some
flexibility the 10% discreet step requirements have been changed to cumulative totals, including an
allowable bandwidth, for each step. A summary of the changes is contained in the following list:
(a) Added an authorized bandwidth above each 10% step.
(b) The excess above 10% in each step may be counted as a portion of any future step
requirement.
(c) Added a maximum permissible overall load drop of 45% after three steps.
(d) Incorporated a mechanism to allow a company to request an exception to the UFLS
requirement in the case of extenuating circumstances.
A redlined copy of the revised Criteria 7.3 is attached.
Page 1 of 2
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Recommendation
The change in wording of Criteria 7.3 will ensure that most SPP companies will be able to be in
compliance with the criteria. Any company still not able to comply because of unique circumstances which
face their company may ask for a waiver of Criteria 7.3 from the SPCWG before the next UFLS
compliance survey.
The MOPC requests that the BOD approve the proposed changes to Criteria 7.3.
Approved:

SPCWG & ORWG
Passed unopposed by both the SPCWG
and ORWG
Markets and Operations Policy Committee
One opposed and seven abstentions

Action
Requested:

November 14, 2005

January 18, 2006

Approve Recommendation

Page 2 of 2
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7.3 UNDER-FREQUENCY LOAD SHEDDING AND RESTORATION
7.3.1 Automatic Load Shedding
A major disturbance among the interconnected bulk electric system may result in certain
areas becoming isolated and experiencing abnormally low frequency and voltage levels.
The areas of separation are unpredictable. To provide load relief and minimize the
probability of network collapse the following practices are established.
7.3.1.1 Operating Reserve
All SPP operating reserve shall be utilized before resorting to shedding firm load. During a
period of declining frequency, there may be violent swings of both real and reactive power.
For this reason, all generator governors and voltage regulators shall be kept in automatic
service as much as practical.
7.3.1.2 Operating Principles
a.

To realize the maximum benefit from a load shedding program the points
at which the load is shed in a company area shall be widely dispersed.
This can be accomplished at the sub-transmission and distribution
voltage level where the types of load and the increments of load to be
shed can be selected.

b.

The time interval involved in shedding load is of extreme importance.
System operators cannot and shall not be required to manually shed load
during a period of rapidly declining frequency. The only practical way to
remove load from a member in an attempt to stabilize the frequency is to
do so automatically by the use of under-frequency relays. Since a
geographical area or the timing of a period of low frequency cannot be
predicted, all of the designated under-frequency relays on a member
system shall be in service at all times. Under-frequency relays shall not
be installed on transmission interconnections unless considered
necessary and has been mutually agreed upon between the members
involved.

c.

The accepted practice of the electric industry is to shed load in a
minimum of three steps. Should the frequency continue to decline after
these three steps of load shedding, additional action may be required to
protect generating machinery from mechanical damage. The actions may
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include opening of tie-lines, removal of generating units from the bus,
additional steps of load shedding, or "island" operation may be utilized
automatically with enough load left on a machine or plant to keep it in
operation. A member can elect to use any one or a combination of these
actions. It is recommended that this operation be performed at 58.5 Hz.
Whatever is done by any one member shall be coordinated with
neighboring members. A map or chart which shows additional actions
that will be taken below a frequency of 58.7Hz shall be furnished to SPP.
7.3.1.3 Implementation
a.

Should the utilization of spinning reserve fail to stop a frequency decline, load
shedding shall be initiated in steps as indicated below. The goal of the
program is to prevent a cascading outage due to a frequency excursion and
restore the system to a stable condition. Members must be ready to shed, in
three steps, an accumulated minimum of thirty (30) percent of a member’s
current load. Current load shall be deemed as the one-minute average of the
member’s load prior to the first under-frequency relay action taken at 59.3 Hz.
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If system frequency decay is permanently stabilized to 60 Hz after UFLS
implementation of Step 1 or Step 2 of the three steps of under-frequency load
shedding (UFLS), it is not required to continue with the additional UFLS
step(s).
Formatted: Indent: Left: 18 pt

This requirement shall be achieved as follows:
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1) A member may dynamically arm and disarm UFLS relays to achieve the
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required load shedding totals, indicated in the chart below, by utilizing a
load following program. For the purposes of this section, the term
‘dynamically’ means that no operator intervention is required to arm or
disarm a UFLS relay, or
2) A member that does not dynamically arm and disarm UFLS relays shall

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 2 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start
at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:
54 pt + Tab after: 72 pt + Indent
at: 72 pt
Deleted: 1)
Deleted: 2)

install, or have installed on its behalf, UFLS relays with a total capability
of shedding an accumulated minimum of thirty (30) percent of the
member’s current load up to a maximum of forty-five (45) percent. The
relays shall be set to shed the accumulated minimum of thirty (30)
percent total up to a maximum of forty-five (45) percent as indicated in the
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load per step,
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chart below. Ideally, members would shed load in three increments of
10% each; however, due to varying load profiles, it is acceptable to shed
increments of load as indicated in the chart below. At Step 1 the member
is required to shed at least 10% of their current load but no more than
15%. At Step 2 the member is required to shed at least 20% of their
current load but no more than 25%, and Step 1 load shedding may be
considered an integral portion of Step 2. At Step 3 the member is
required to shed at least 30% of their current load but no more than 45%,
and Step 1 and Step 2 load shedding may be considered an integral
portion of Step 3. For UFLS tripping of loads greater than 15% at Step 1,
25% at Step 2 and 45% at Step 3, a waiver must be acquired from SPP
and any applicable SPP working group. Once installed, these UFLS
relays shall remain in service to trip loads except for periods of testing
and maintenance.

Regardless of the technique utilized only the non-intentional delays
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including operating times of relays and breakers, plus any intentional
delay as allowed in Criteria 7.3, shall delay the interruption of pre-event
load for all events at the time of each event.
The ideal load shedding progression for a 1000 MW load would
be:
Step

1
2
3

Frequency
(Hz)
59.3
59.0
58.7

Accumulated Load
Relief
10% of 1000
20% of 1000
30% of 1000

Total load dropped
(MW)
100
200
300

Deleted:
Step
Frequency (hz)
Minimum Load
Relief (%)¶
¶
1
59.3
10¶
¶
2
59.0
10 ¶
¶
3
58.7
10¶

This should be followed as far as practical.
Step

1
2
3

Frequency
(Hz)
59.3
59.0
58.7

Minimum Accumulated
Load Relief (%)
10
20
30

Maximum Accumulated
Load Relief (%)
15
25
45

The following example is an acceptable progression of load shedding and
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meets SPP Criteria:
One minute average load prior to first load shedding step is 1000MW
Load

Load Shed

Accumulated

Frequency

Shed

this Step

Total Load

% Total

Step

(Hz)

(MW)

(%)

Shed (MW)

Load Shed

1

59.3

120

12

120

12

2

59.0

90

9

210

21

3

58.7

90

9

300

30

The following example is not an acceptable progression of load shedding by
failing to meet SPP load shedding criteria to shed a minimum accumulation of
20% of the total load at Step 2:
One minute average load prior to first load shedding step is 1000MW
Load
Load Shed
Accumulated
Frequency

Shed

this Step

Total Load

% Total

Step

(Hz)

(MW)

(%)

Shed (MW)

Load Shed

1

59.3

120

12

120

12

2

59.0

70

7

190

19

3

58.7

110

11

300

30

Does not meet
minimum
criteria of 20%

The following example is not an acceptable progression of load shedding by
failing to meet SPP load shedding criteria by exceeding the maximum
accumulated load shed of 15% at Step 1:
Exceeds
One minute average load prior to first load shedding step is 1000MW
Load
Load Shed
Accumulated
Frequency

Shed

this Step

Total Load

% Total

Step

(Hz)

(MW)

(%)

Shed (MW)

Load Shed

1

59.3

160

16

160

16

2

59.0

70

7

230

23

3

58.7

70

7

300

30

maximum
criteria of 15%
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b.

The relays used to accomplish load shedding shall be high speed with no
external intentional time delay devices employed. An exception to this
policy would be on circuits serving considerable motor load (such as oil
field or irrigation pumping load) which would cause the under-frequency
relays to incorrectly operate when the source voltage is removed
momentarily due to a transmission line fault.

c.

In special cases, some members may elect to shed more than the
allowable maximum of the system load on any step, for example, if they
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have an adverse ratio of load responsibility to generating capability. This
situation should not be general and shall be considered on the merits of
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specific cases. As stated in requirement 2 of 7.3.1.3.a, in such cases, a
waiver should be acquired from SPP and any applicable SPP working
group.
d.

The tripping of any generating unit by under-frequency relays or any other
protective device during low frequency conditions shall be so coordinated
that these units will not be tripped before the three steps of load shedding
have been utilized. Should this not be practical due to the operating
characteristics of certain units, then these members shall protect the
interconnected systems by shedding a block of load equal to the
capability of the generating unit that will be tripped and at the frequency
which will remove the unit from service. If the unit is jointly owned, each
of the joint owners shall shed a block of load equal to their share of the
unit.

e.

The coordination among members becomes critical when actions beyond
Step 3 are utilized; particularly, on those members which have
established extra high voltage (EHV) terminals as part of their
transmission system and/or with generators connected directly to the
EHV system. Careful consideration shall be given when opening only
one end of an EHV line section which is energized; the open-ended
voltage could rise to damaging levels and reactive flow towards the
closed-end could have intolerable effects. Further, if generation is
connected to the affected portion of the EHV network, that generating
capability would be removed from an area where it is sorely needed.
Consideration shall be given to the coordination of under-frequency
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relaying of the EHV transmission to maintain generating units on line and
if necessary, carry portions of a neighboring system load to do so.
System operators shall be alert to the effects of unloading the EHV
network and be prepared to remove portions of the network should the
voltage rise to intolerable levels.
7.3.1.4 Required Location And Model Data Reporting For
Under-frequency Load Shedding Equipment
The number, type and location of Under-frequency Load Shedding (UFLS) equipment will
normally be the responsibility of the facility owners based on recommendations by the
owners’ or SPP’s studies. Information about installations will be provided by the facility
owners to the SPP in accordance with NERC Standards and maintained in databases by
the SPP staff for a period of at least three (3) years. These modeling databases shall be
monitored as necessary by the SPP System Protection and Control Working Group
(SPCWG). The Model Development Working Group, Transmission Assessment Working
Group and Operating Reliability Working Group will review the databases and recommend
that equipment with adequate capabilities is installed at critical locations throughout the
system as determined in power flow and dynamic stability studies. The specific data that is
required in SPP’s circuit analysis models shall be maintained and submitted to SPP by the
facility owners or their designated representatives on an annual basis or as otherwise
required. This data shall include, but not be limited to, location, breaker, trip frequencies,
amount of load shed by trip frequency, relay and breaker operating times, and any
intentional delay of breaker clearing. Also required will be any related generation
protection, tie tripping schemes, islanding schemes, or any other schemes that are part of
or impact the UFLS programs.
7.3.1.5 Requirements for Testing and Maintenance
Procedures
Each facility owner shall have a documented maintenance program in place to test or
the means (i.e. self-testing microprocessor relays) to periodically check the functionality
and availability of the UFLS equipment in service. These tests shall be done based on
the manufacturers’ recommendation or, if less frequent, to maintain reliable operation. A
facility owner that tests on a less frequent basis than the manufacturer’s
recommendation shall provide written justification for such a change, if requested by
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SPP or NERC. The facility owner will be responsible for maintaining and providing
required maintenance data for its facilities for a minimum of three (3) years. Each facility
owner will provide updates to the SPP or NERC upon request.
7.3.1.6 Periodic Review of Under-frequency Load
Shedding Equipment
SPP members shall maintain a list of substations where UFLS equipment is located for
all areas including those designated as being critical by the Transmission Assessment
and Operating Reliability Working Groups. The facility owner will be responsible for
providing required data on forms developed by the System Protection & Control Working
Group and supplied by SPP. Each facility owner will provide updates to the SPP as
requested. The SPP staff will maintain and update the UFLS equipment database. The
Transmission Assessment and Operating Reliability Working Groups will review the
database annually for additions and changes, specifically checking for equipment as
recommended in Section 7.3.1.4. The SPCWG will update, if necessary, this UFLS
Criteria every three (3) years.
7.3.1.7 Requests for Under-frequency Load Shedding Data
SPP shall function as a requesting agent and clearing house for the collection of data on an
as needed basis when the request is not from an SPP member. Facility Owners should
provide the requested data within five (5) business days with a copy of the requested
information forwarded to the SPP. However, it is recognized that significant disturbances
may result in a large amount of equipment operations at multiple locations and that some
equipment operations must be manually retrieved from the UFLS equipment’s locations.
These factors may make it impractical to retrieve and properly prepare the records and
documentation within five (5) business days. In these cases, SPP shall be notified of the
delay and the anticipated date of forwarding the requested data. SPP members and NERC
staff may also formally request data from SPP members with a copy of the request
forwarded to the SPP. Such requests will be considered to be a request from SPP staff.
7.3.1.8 Restoration
After the frequency has stabilized the following procedure shall be followed.
a.

In the event the frequency stabilized below 60 Hz, system
operators shall coordinate operations to utilize all available
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generating capacity to the maximum extent possible in order to
restore the frequency to 60 Hz. Deficient systems shall continue
to shed load until the frequency can be restored to normal.
b.

At 60 Hz the isolated areas shall be synchronized with the
remainder of the interconnected systems. Synchronization
between individual members shall be performed only upon direct
orders of the system operators of both companies involved.

c.

System operators shall coordinate load restoration as generating
capability, voltage levels and tie-line loadings allow.

d.

Any shed load shall be restored only upon direct orders of the system
operator. Extreme care shall be exercised as to the rate at which load is
restored to the system in order that limits of generation and transmission
line loading are not exceeded. Insofar as possible, supervisory control
shall be used to restore load; otherwise, manual restoration is preferable
to insure positive control by the system operators.

e.

It is recommended that a restoration plan be furnished by each company
for use by its system operators for implementation of a coordinated and
successful recovery.
7.3.2 Requirements of a Regional Under-frequency Load Shedding

Program
The SPP shall develop, coordinate, and document a Regional UFLS program
7.3.2.1 SPP’s Coordination of Under-frequency Load
Shedding Program
This program shall coordinate UFLS programs within the sub-regions, Region, and where
appropriate, among Regions. It shall also coordinate the amount of load shedding
necessary to arrest frequency decay, minimize loss of load, and permit timely system
restoration. For an effective plan, SPP shall coordinate programs including generation
protection and control, under-voltage load shedding, Regional load restoration, and
transmission protection and control. Details to be included shall include those specified in
7.3.1.4. SPP shall periodically conduct and document a technical assessment of the
effectiveness of the design and implementation of its UFLS program. The first technical
assessment of the program shall be completed by SPP no later than June 1, 2001. These
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assessments shall be completed at least every five years thereafter or as required by
significant changes in system conditions. The documented results of such assessments
shall be provided to NERC on request.
7.3.2.2 Coordination of Under-frequency Load Shedding
Programs And Analyses With SPP
The facility owners and operators of an UFLS program shall ensure that their programs are
consistent with Regional UFLS program requirements including automatically shedding load
in the amounts and at the locations, frequencies, rates and times consistent with those
Regional requirements. When an under-frequency event occurs which is below the
initializing set points of their UFLS programs, the owners or operators shall analyze and
document the event. Documentation of the analysis shall be provided to SPP and NERC on
request in the time frames established in 7.3.1.7.
7.3.3 Manual Load Shedding
A situation can arise when a control area must reduce load even though the frequency is
normal. Since an automatic load shedding program will be of no avail in this case, manual
load shedding procedures shall be utilized. One of the basic principles of interconnected
operation is that a control area will match the area generation to area load at 60 Hz at all
times. Should a generation deficiency develop for any reason, arrangements shall be made
with adjacent control areas to cover the deficiency; but failing this, the affected control area
shall reduce the area load until the available generation is sufficient to match it. In some
cases a generation deficiency can be foreseen and will develop gradually; whereas, in other
cases the deficiency will develop immediately with no forewarning. A gradually developing
deficiency can probably be offset by using conservation procedures; whereas, an immediate
deficiency will probably require customer service interruption. The importance of a load
reduction plan cannot be overemphasized. A plan is offered here which can be modified to
fit individual cases.
7.3.3.1 Conservation
a.

Interruption of service to interruptible customers. Utilize to the extent that
the situation requires.

b.

Reduction of load in company facilities.

c.

Reduction of distribution voltage level. Utilize to the extent possible and
as the situation requires.
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d.

Load reduction by request to company employees and general public.
The company employees and the general public shall be notified through
news media to curtail the use of electricity.

e.

Load reduction by request to bulk power users. Concurrent with voltage
reduction and asking employees and the general public to reduce load,
bulk power users (municipals and cooperatives) will be asked to reduce
load in their areas using the same methods.

f.

Load reduction by large use customers. Large use commercial and
industrial customers will be requested to curtail electric power usage
where such curtailment will not seriously disrupt customers' operations.
7.3.3.2 Service Interruption
Manual load interruption shall be implemented by a pre-determined plan, an
example of which follows.

a.

Each company operating subdivision shall select distribution circuits in
approximately 5% increments in the order of their priority that will be
taken out of service. The 5% increments will be labeled "A", "B", "C", "D",
"E", and "F". The interruption and the restoration of these circuits will be
under the control of the system operator. When the system operator
determines that load must be reduced, he shall direct the subdivision
operators to open all "A" circuits. This will reduce the system load 5%. If
further load reduction is necessary, the system operator shall direct all "B"
circuits to be opened which will result in an additional 5% reduction. This
shall continue through "C", "D", "E", and "F" until the generation
deficiency is eliminated.

b.

The objective of this plan is to have no circuits open more than two hours.
If the duration of the system emergency exists in excess of two hours and
only the "A" circuits have been opened, then at the end of two hours the
"B" circuits shall be opened and the "A" circuits reclosed. If a 10%
reduction is necessary, "C" and "D" circuits shall be opened and "A" and
"B" reclosed, after "A" and "B" have been open for two hours. Obviously,
no circuits shall be open longer than is absolutely necessary. The "E"
and "F" circuits shall be opened to avoid opening "A" and "B" circuits
twice in one day.
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c.

When a generation deficiency develops, or begins to develop, the system
operator shall alert all involved operating personnel to the effect that
certain circuits may have to be interrupted. This action will reduce the
time required to execute circuit interruption orders of the system operator.
Some control areas in SPP have extensive supervisory control systems
while others have little, if any, supervisory control. Obviously, any
implementation plan shall make best use of available equipment.
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Southwest Power Pool
MARKETS AND OPERATIONS POLICY COMMITTEE
Recommendation to the Board of Directors/Members Committee
January 31, 2006
Organizational Roster
The following members represent the Bandwidth Working Group (BWG):
Robert Shields
Sharad Rastogi
Janell Marks
Brett Rollow

(Chairman)
(Member)
(Member)
(Staff Secretary)

Activity Update
The Bandwidth Working Group (BWG) was organized in April of 1990 for the purpose of
developing a methodology and producing high and low growth scenario bands about the
Southwest Power Pool (SPP) most recent U.S. Department of Energy EIA-411 Report demand
and energy forecast. The 2005 SPP demand and Energy Bandwidth Forecast Report Presents
the results of the seventh effort of the BWG and represents a continuation of a recommended
methodology for such efforts to be performed on an every-other-year basis.
Recommendation
The BWG has discussed and unanimously agreed that the MOPC should review the need for this
report since no one, to the knowledge of the group members, utilizes data from the report. A
similar report is produced by the NERC LFWG which details the same information.
The MOPC recommends that the BOD discontinue the preparation of this report and disband the
Bandwidth Working Group.
Approved:

Bandwidth Working Group (BWG)
Unopposed

December 5, 2005

Markets and Operations Policy Committee
Unopposed

January 18, 2006

Action Requested: Approve Recommendation
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DEMAND & ENERGY
BANDWIDTH FORECAST
2005-2014

October 2005

Prepared by the Southwest Power Pool
BANDWIDTH WORKING GROUP
(BWG)
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Southwest Power Pool
BANDWIDTH WORKING GROUP

Robert Shields, Chairman
Senior Rate Analyst
Arkansas Electric Cooperative Corp.
Sharad Rastogi
Senior Planning Engineer
Western Farmers Electric Cooperative
Jannell Marks
Manager, Economics and Energy Forecasting
Xcel Energy
Brett Rollow
Engineer I, Transmission Engineering and Modeling
Southwest Power Pool
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Southwest Power Pool
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The Bandwidth Working Group developed high and low growth rate scenario bands around the current
Southwest Power Pool (SPP) demand and energy forecast as reported to the U.S. Department of Energy
in the April 2005 EIA-411 Report. The results of this effort were produced through econometric modeling
of the SPP Region. The following table summarizes growth rates that bound the most likely range of
occurrence under normal weather conditions. The results of the 2003 & 2001 forecast are also shown for
comparison.

Annual Compound Forecast Growth Rates
(%/Year 2005-2014)

(%/Year 2003-2012)

(%/Year 2001-2010)

Low

Base

High

Low

Base

High

Low

Base

High

Peak Demand

1.1

1.6

2.4

0.9

1.7

2.9

1.8

2.2

2.6

Annual Energy

1.1

1.8

2.4

0.8

1.6

2.7

1.6

2.0

2.4

Bandwidth Forecast of SPP Demand (MW)

55,000

Base - EIA-411 Data

High Growth Rate

Low Growth Rate

50,000

45,000

40,000

35,000

30,000

25,000
1990

SPP

1991

1992

1993

1994

1995

1996

1997

1998

1999

2000

1

2001

2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

October 2005

74 of 127

Demand & Energy Forecast

2005-2014

Bandwidth Forecast of SPP Energy (GWh)
250,000

Base - EIA-411 Data

High Growth Rate

Low Growth Rate

230,000

210,000

190,000

170,000

150,000

130,000
1990

1991

1992

1993

1994

1995

1996

1997

1998

1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

Member systems continue to forecast similar growth of future demand and energy requirements
compared to the 2005 EIA-411 Report. Actual peak demand has grown at 2.3 %/yr from 1990 to 2004.
The annual compound growth rate on energy for the next 10 years increased from 1.6 %/yr. in 2003 to
1.8 %/yr. in 2005. Actual energy has grown at 2.3 %/yr from 1990-2004 and at 2.9% from 1975 to 2004.
The econometric predictor variables applied in the 2003-2012 forecast are similar to the ones used in the
2003-2012 forecast. The SPP forecast growth rates for the high, low and base economic scenarios for
2005, 2003 and 2001 forecasts are shown on the previous page.
One standard deviation was used for a 30-year average to account for extreme weather effects. These
variables were then incorporated in the base energy forecast model in place of the normal values to
generate energy bands, which represent the effects due to extreme weather. The extreme weather
demand bands were derived from the extreme weather energy bands using one standard deviation from
the 15-year mean load factor. Should weather extremes occur in any given year in addition to a low or
high growth scenario the bands are broadened, as shown in the following charts.

These weather

uncertainty percentages can be applied to all economic growth scenarios.
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INTRODUCTION
The Bandwidth Working Group (BWG) was organized in April of 1990 for the purpose of developing a
methodology and producing high and low growth scenario bands about the Southwest Power Pool’s
(SPP) most recent U.S. Department of Energy OE-411 Report demand and energy forecast. The 2005
SPP Demand and Energy Bandwidth Forecast Report presents the results of the seventh effort of the
BWG and represents a continuation of a recommended methodology for such efforts to be performed on
an every-other-year basis. Although the methodology remains the same, the banding was only done for
the entire SPP for the report in 2005 and 2003 while in the past the forecast banding was done for sub
regions and aggregated to form the SPP region.
The BWG was formed under the Forecasting Subcommittee (FS) of SPP, which contained a
representative from each member system. The FS was created at the recommendation of a former
Bandwidth Load Forecasting Task Force under the Engineering & Operating Committee (EOC). This task
force was formed in November 1986 following direction to investigate bandwidth forecasts from the May
1986 Board of Directors’ meeting. This initial task force produced a bandwidth forecast from available
data and computer resources within its membership. Their effort concluded with a recommendation to
continue research and development efforts in this area to produce a recommended methodology for
future SPP bandwidth forecasts.
The Forecasting Subcommittee’s responsibilities were transferred to the EOC in 1997. The Bandwidth
Working Group has been retained and now reports to the Markets and Operations Policy Committee
(MOPC). The U.S. Department of Energy OE-411 Report is now referred to as the EIA-411 Report. In
the OE-411 and EIA-411 Reports prior to year 2000, SPP was divided into three subregions; Northern,
Southeastern, and West Central.

Because of the change in member systems in the Southeastern

subregion between 1995 and 1999, SPP has decided to combine the Southeastern and West Central
subregions into a newly formed Southern subregion in the 2000 EIA-411. Since the 2003 report SPP
stopped using the northern and southern divisions and combined it to be an aggregate representation for
the region.
This year’s BWG effort is to reproduce the demand and energy bandwidth forecast using econometric
data obtained in the public domain. After the September 11 tragedy in New York, the group began
discussing the validity of a more current econometric forecast. The Committee decided to forecast with
data that was publicly available for the entire SPP region. The data obtained was yearly instead of
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quarterly as done in the past. The BWG asked the EOC if there was any need to forecast quarterly and
the BWG was informed by the EOC a yearly forecast would be sufficient.
METHODOLOGY
General
Based on research efforts of the previous task force, the NERC Load Forecasting Working Group and the
forecasting methods of major electric utilities throughout the U.S., the BWG determined general
characteristics for SPP bandwidth forecasts.
•

Forecast bands will be produced through econometric modeling (multiple linear regression)

•

Forecast bands will be produced for the SPP Region

•

Forecast bands will span the 10 year EIA-411 Report forecast

•

Annual energy and peak demand forecast bands would be developed

•

Demand will be derived from forecast energy through projected load factor

•

The discrete time increment of data will be calendar years

The former Weather Normalization Task Force (WNTF) developed weather variables for the econometric
models.
Computer Software
SAS software was used in previous BWG efforts before the 2003 report. The forecast this time was done
in Microsoft Excel using its statistical package LINEST as was done in the 2003 report.

Economic Data
Because of the need for high and low scenarios, the large geographical area of the SPP, the varying
economic climate of each Subregion, the fact that SPP encompasses all of some states while only a
portion of others, an extensive database of economic variables was required. In the past, economic data
sources identified as being appropriate for the SPP effort included WEFA, DRI, Woods & Poole,
Perryman Consultants, and U. S. government. Based on quotes received and the widespread use of DRI
data by member systems, the BWG selected DRI as the data source for the 1991 bandwidth effort.
Because of the poor quality of this data, the BWG distributed a “Request for Proposal” to all of the
vendors listed above. Only DRI and Perryman responded and the BWG selected Perryman Consultants
to provide the economic data for the 1993 effort and was used in every report until 2003. In this report
data was obtained from the public sector and used to model the entire SPP region. Forecasting models
were tested using various combinations of the following variables in the 2003 report.
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Population

Cooling Degree Days

Heating Degree Days

GDP

Real Residential Natural Gas Price

New Home Sales

Real Residential Electricity Price
Weather Data
Normal weather data was developed by the WNTF based on a weighted analysis of actual data for
heating and cooling degree-days for 12 sites across SPP. The WNTF requested 30 years of National
Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) data in TD-3210 Summary of Day digital data format for
12 sites within the SPP Region. The list of these sites with their associated NOAA identification number
is listed by SPP Subregion.
NOAA Weather Stations
Northern Sub-Region

Southern Sub-Region

Wichita, KS - 03928
Kansas City, MO - 03947
Dodge City, KS - 13985
Springfield, MO - 13995
Topeka, KS - 13996

Shreveport, LA - 13957
N. Little Rock, AR - 13963
Ft. Smith, AR - 13964
Oklahoma City, OK - 13967
Tulsa, OK - 13968
Baton Rouge, LA - 13970
Amarillo, TX - 23047

The former WNTF determined early in the investigation that, at a minimum, a variable should be
developed for degree-days. A degree-day, as used in this study, was calculated as the sum of the daily
minimum temperature and maximum temperature, quantity divided by two with sixty-five subtracted from
the result (sixty-five degree base). Positive results were labeled as cooling degree-days (CDD). For
negative results, the absolute value is taken and the values labeled as heating degree-days (HDD). The
station daily values were then summed for each calendar month.
Modeling
For the 2005 BWG Report, dataset for the SPP was established using 30 years of historical and 10 years
of forecasted data. Simulations were run on this data using the Excel software. Using statistical routines,
the BWG selected the variables which resulted in the forecast that was statistically sound and best
reproduced the EIA-411 Report energy forecast submitted by member systems. The chart below
compares the BWG model results to actual history and the EIA-411 forecast.
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SPP Energy Actual and EIA-411 Forecast
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A regression for the base energy forecast established relationships between energy and the predictor
variables for the historical time period 1975 through 2004. These relationships were then applied to the
forecast of these variables to predict future energy requirements. This step was performed using multiple
linear regression analysis. Obtaining an exact match of the base forecast to the EIA-411 Report forecast
was not attempted although the model this time produced similar results. High and low scenarios of the
expected forecast of the economic variables were used to develop bands about the EIA-411 Report
forecast.
All models were reviewed with respect to the following statistical parameters.
T Test > 1.699,
R2 D 1.0,
Signs of variable coefficients in the correct direction,
Reasonable elasticity of variable coefficients,

SPP

7

October 2005

80 of 127

Demand & Energy Forecast

2005-2014

Assumptions
The base forecast obtained from the econometric modeling is an adequate approximation to the EIA-411
Report forecast and suggests that the high and low scenario bands produced from the models are good
approximations to apply to the base EIA-411 Report values. In addition, historical weather data was used
to develop sensitivities due to weather extremes. These variations along with an analysis of load factor
variations were used to develop demand bands. Demand Side Management (DSM) impacts and Non
Utility Generation (NUG) effects are not explicitly modeled. These impacts are assumed to be included in
the adjustment of the modeled forecast to the EIA-411 Report forecast and in the input data series. Any
DSM and NUG impacts included in the EIA-411 Report forecast are therefore inherent in the base
forecast, but the level of uncertainty is not known.

ECONOMIC ANALYSIS
Variables were selected for use in the forecast model based on their statistical significance to the forecast
model equation. The following is a detailed description of the model and the economic variables included
in it. All growth rate references are in terms of annual compound growth rates. The model took the
following form:
SPP (Energy) = a(GDP) + a (CDD) + a (HDD) + a (Lag of 1 year sales) + b
a = coefficient of the independent variable
GDP = Gross Domestic Product in 1996 dollars
CDD = Annual Cooling Degree Days for the SPP region
HDD = Annual Heating Degree Days for the SPP region
Lag of 1 year sales = Energy sales of the previous year
b = constant
The statistics and model coefficients are found in the Appendix.
The primary economic driver for the SPP is Gross Domestic Product (GDP). The source for the history of
this variable comes from the Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA) under the U.S. Department of
Commerce. GDP growth rates were developed for the low, base and high-economic growth scenarios
over the forecast period were 2.1, 2.8, and 3.5 percent per year respectively. The weather data to
develop the CDD and HDD was from NOAA. The independent variable data is found in the Appendix.
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WEATHER ANALYSIS
Following review, the decision was made to continue with the methodology used in the previous efforts to
capture weather effects in the energy modeling process. As such, the ad hoc Weather Normalization
Task Force was disbanded and the members absorbed into the BWG. Actual quarterly heating and
cooling degree-day data streams were acquired from the NOAA for 1975 through 2004. A 30-year
average created normal yearly heating and cooling degree-day values for the SPP. These normal yearly
values were used for 2005 through 2014 in modeling the base forecast.
Extreme yearly data was developed from the 30-year data using one standard deviation (95%
confidence) from the mean on annual maximum degree-days.

LOAD FACTOR ANALYSIS
Demand bands for expected weather conditions were derived from the econometric energy bands by
applying the average load factor of the SPP from 1990 to 2004. Fifteen years of load factors were
averaged to convert the high and low growth scenario energy bands to demand. With currently available
data, the use of other than base EIA-411 Report load factors for conversion of high and low growth
scenario bands could not be supported. Detailed analysis by customer class would be required to justify
the use of a variation from base load factors for the high and low economic scenarios. In order to
determine the effect of extreme weather on peak demand, maximum and minimum load factors
representing one standard deviation on either side of the mean were calculated and used to develop the
demand bands for extreme weather. Load factor values one standard deviation below the mean applied
to the high-energy band were used to calculate the high demand band for extreme weather. Load factor
values one standard deviation above the mean applied to the low energy band were used to calculate the
low demand band for extreme weather.

The BWG continued to use the load factors one standard

deviation either side of the mean (as opposed to the mean) to account for the greater amount of weather
related uncertainty associated with peak demand as compared to annual energy. This step does not,
however, allow a definitive statement as to statistical confidence interval as is applied to the bands about
energy.
The BWG discontinued the efforts to adjust historic demand and energy for abnormal weather. Energy is
somewhat normalized for the region. Also, the attempt to weather normalize non-coincidental demand is
not meaningful with comparable coincident data for comparison.
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CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
The BWG has determined that the methodology developed is still a logical process from which future
bandwidth forecasts should continue to be developed.

This study’s effort produced results that are

reasonable and helpful in assessing a degree of confidence in the EIA-411 forecast. To obtain betterforecast models in future BWG reports, more study will be needed to find better econometric variables
that model such a large and diverse region.
The BWG successfully developed models that substantially replicated the EIA-411 historic data for the
SPP. Since the models are used only as a reference point to find the economic high and low bands for
the EIA-411 forecast, it was decided that no further attempt should be made to get more accurate models
at this time.
The EIA-411 forecast is an aggregate of SPP members’ forecast. Each SPP member has vastly more
data and a more intimate knowledge of its service territory. Thus, each member should be able to
produce the best possible forecast for its service territory. For this reason, the BWG believes the EIA-411
Report contains the best forecast available, and thus only produces forecast bands around it.
The possibility of high load growth should be brought to the attention of SPP resource planners. In
making long term resource decisions, SPP planners should at least be aware that the ranges of
possibilities are varied.
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Study Results
Bandwidth Energy History and
Forecast (GWh)
Year
History
High
1990
138,924
1991
141,247
1992
142,602
1993
154,669
1994
161,605
1995
163,396
1996
167,948
1997
174,709
1998
183,103
1999
180,120
2000
193,006
2001
188,401
2002
199,039
2003
185,574
2004
191,829
2005
194,180
194,791
2006
198,246
199,801
2007
201,659
204,358
2008
204,618
208,590
2009
208,253
213,612
2010
211,813
218,643
2011
214,957
223,318
2012
218,744
228,729
2013
223,049
234,755
2014
227,123
240,613

Low

193,569
196,699
198,989
200,713
203,017
205,181
206,891
209,173
211,901
214,361

Bandwidth Demand History and Forecast (MW)
Year
History
High
Low
1990
30,006
1991
29,825
1992
31,268
1993
32,906
1994
33,344
1995
34,657
1996
35,003
1997
36,198
1998
37,724
1999
39,079
2000
40,199
2001
40,273
2002
39,648
2003
40,367
2004
41,106
2005
41,371
41,102
40,845
2006
42,196
42,160
41,505
2007
42,896
43,121
41,988
2008
43,466
44,014
42,352
2009
44,313
45,074
42,838
2010
45,275
46,135
43,295
2011
45,579
47,122
43,656
2012
45,994
48,264
44,137
2013
46,842
49,535
44,713
2014
47,658
50,771
45,232

SPP

Bandwidth Energy History and Forecast
(GWh) Extreme Weather
Year
History
High
1990
138,924
1991
141,247
1992
142,602
1993
154,669
1994
161,605
1995
163,396
1996
167,948
1997
174,709
1998
183,103
1999
180,120
2000
193,006
2001
188,401
2002
199,039
2003
185,574
2004
191,829
2005
194,180
198,174
2006
198,246
204,900
2007
201,659
210,321
2008
204,618
214,965
2009
208,253
220,191
2010
211,813
225,300
2011
214,957
229,973
2012
218,744
235,366
2013
223,049
241,368
2014
227,123
247,183

Low

190,186
191,600
193,027
194,338
196,438
198,524
200,235
202,536
205,288
207,790

Bandwidth Demand History and Forecast (MW) Extreme
Weather
Year
History
High
Low
1990
30,006
1991
29,825
1992
31,268
1993
32,906
1994
33,344
1995
34,657
1996
35,003
1997
36,198
1998
37,724
1999
39,079
2000
40,199
2001
40,273
2002
39,648
2003
40,367
2004
41,106
2005
41,371
42,797
39,232
2006
42,196
44,250
39,523
2007
42,896
45,420
39,818
2008
43,466
46,423
40,088
2009
44,313
47,552
40,521
2010
45,275
48,655
40,952
2011
45,579
49,664
41,305
2012
45,994
50,829
41,779
2013
46,842
52,125
42,347
2014
47,658
53,381
42,863
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Gross Domestic Product
GDP (2000) chained dollars
Year

SPP

GDP

1975

4,311.2

1976

4,540.9

1977

4,750.5

1978

5,015.0

1979

5,173.4

1980

5,161.7

1981

5,291.7

1982

5,189.3

1983

5,423.8

1984

5,813.6

1985

6,053.7

1986

6,263.6

1987

6,475.1

1988

6,742.7

1989

6,981.4

1990

7,112.5

1991

7,100.5

1992

7,336.6

1993

7,532.7

1994

7,835.5

1995

8,031.7

1996

8,328.9

1997

8,703.5

1998

9,066.9

1999

9,470.0

2000

9,817.0

2001

9,890.7

2002

10,048.8

2003

10,320.6

2004

10,755.7

2005

11,056.9

11,132.1

10981.6

2006

11,366.5

11,521.8

11212.2

2007

11,684.7

11,925.0

11447.6

2008

12,011.9

12,342.4

11688.0

2009

12,348.2

12,774.4

11933.5

2010

12,694.0

13,221.5

12184.1

2011

13,049.4

13,684.3

12440.0

2012

13,414.8

14,163.2

12701.2

2013

13,790.4

14,658.9

12967.9

2014

14,176.5

15,172.0

13240.2

13
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Weather (CDD & HDD)
SPP Region
Average
Year

SPP

CDD

HDD

1975

1,721

3,945

1976

1,507

3,970

1977

2,025

3,721

1978

2,070

4,530

1979

1,646

4,464

1980

2,296

4,073

1981

1,852

3,604

1982

1,850

3,997

1983

1,914

4,393

1984

1,834

3,915

1985

1,834

4,204

1986

1,920

3,470

1987

1,863

3,592

1988

1,889

3,897

1989

1,677

4,080

1990

2,027

3,424

1991

2,064

3,562

1992

1,464

3,506

1993

1,729

4,277

1994

1,790

3,671

1995

1,784

3,818

1996

1,716

4,090

1997

1,667

4,002

1998

2,314

3,454

1999

1,804

3,257

2000

2,080

3,859

2001

1,954

3,499

2002

1,970

3,874

2003

1,823

3,727

2004

1,728

3,499

standard deviation

195

330

Mean

1,860

3,846
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BWG Forecast compared to History and EIA-411

SPP

Year

BWG Forecast
Middle

1982

108,112

1983

114,264

1984

117,225

1985

123,363

1986

126,985

1987

125,791

1988

133,126

1989

137,048

1990

137,915

1991

141,514

1992

139,521

1993

148,671

1994

154,723

1995

160,984

1996

165,538

1997

170,282

1998

179,145

1999

181,781

2000

188,941

2001

193,411

2002

194,604

2003

200,620

2004

194,881

2005

203,990

204,632

203,348

2006

213,236

214,909

211,572

2007

220,973

223,930

218,047

2008

227,965

232,390

223,614

2009

234,631

240,668

228,731

2010

241,200

248,978

233,648

2011

247,799

257,437

238,500

2012

254,499

266,116

243,364

2013

261,342

275,058

248,280

2014

268,351

284,289

253,272

High

15
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Statistics

Coefficient

Lag 1 Year Sales

HDD

CDD

GDP

constant

0.543233167

5.90968549

8.235118789

8.52627323

-32539.7596

1.92754722

1.783650812

2.68223793

-1.90395486

R-SQ

0.984106689

T-test

3.157656782

SPP

16

October 2005

89 of 127

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE
Report to the Board of Directors
January 31, 2006

Background
SPP must have a process for members to seek exclusion or waivers from SPP Criteria.
Analysis
The SPP Exclusion Process allows members to request three [3] types of exclusions:
1.

Waiver – A member can request a waiver of a SPP Criteria if the member agrees that it is
responsible for the Criteria but has a structural, on-going problem in complying with
the Criteria that has been approved. The member or the SPP working group must suggest
an alternative measure of compliance for the member that is seeking the waiver.
Example: AECC has some very unusual load characteristics that makes compliance with the
SPP UFLS program almost impossible. A different measurement technique for AECC can be
developed and applied during the annual compliance surveys.

2.

Exception – A member can request an exception from compliance with a SPP Criteria if the
member agrees that is responsible for the Criteria but an unusual event has created
circumstances beyond the member’s control and it cannot comply in the measurement
timeframe. The member seeking the exception must agree to put forth all reasonable efforts
to bring itself into compliance in the next measurement timeframe.
Example: In 2005, Hurricanes Katrina and Rita had a significant impact on the CLECO
service territory. They may present an exception request for the annual transmission relay
maintenance program including a mitigation plan to gain compliance in 2006.

3.

Exemption - A member can request an exemption from compliance with a SPP Criteria if
the member believes it is not responsible for complying with the Criteria. The member
must present its rationale to the SPP working group to support the exemption request.
Example: This would be an unusual request because the Compliance Group will handle
most exemptions administratively before the start of the annual programs. However, the
members and SPP needs this capability if a situation arises where a member changes
functions and needs to request an exemption.

SPP Criteria Exclusion Process
1) Complete the SPP Criteria Exclusion Form [Appendix XX of SPP Criteria]
2) Attach any background material needed to support the exclusion (documents, studies,
research, etc.).
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3)

Submit the form and materials to the appropriate SPP working group[s] chair, vice-chair, and
secretary for preliminary comments.

4) The working group[s] will add the exclusion request to the agenda of the next regularly
scheduled meeting. Under rare occasions, if the matter warrants action before the next
scheduled meeting, the working group chair may call a special meeting.
5) Working group[s] will vote for or against granting the exclusion. If the requesting member is
represented on the working group, that member will not be allowed to vote. If the member’s
representative is the Chair of the working group, then for discussions on the proposed
exclusion, the chair’s authority will be assigned to the Vice-Chair.
6) a) If the working group approves the exclusion request, the requesting member has the
responsibility to present the exclusion request to the SPP Markets and Operations Policy
Committee [MOPC] at the next regularly scheduled MOPC meeting. This request will be in the
form of an ‘action item’ agenda item, including a prospective effective date.
Under rare
occasions, if the matter warrants action before the next scheduled meeting, the MOPC chair
may call a special meeting.
b) If the working group does not approve the exclusion request, the requesting member may
withdraw the request or present an appeal of the working group’s findings to the SPP Markets
and Operations Policy Committee [MOPC] at the next regularly scheduled MOPC meeting.
This request will be in the form of an ‘action item’ agenda item. Under rare occasions, if the
matter warrants action before the next scheduled meeting, the MOPC chair may call a special
meeting.
7) a) If the MOPC approves the exclusion, including the effective date, the conditions specified
shall be applied by the SPP Compliance department beginning on the approved effective date.
b) If the MOPC does not approve the exclusion request, the requesting member may withdraw
the request or present an appeal of the MOPC’s findings to the SPP Board of Directors [BOD]
at the next regularly scheduled meeting. This request will be in the form of an ‘action item’
agenda item.
8) a) If the BOD approves the exclusion, including the effective date, the conditions specified shall
be applied by the SPP Compliance department beginning on the approved effective date.
b) If the BOD does not approve the exclusion request, the requesting member shall withdraw
the exclusion request.
Recommendation
Approve the SPP Exclusion Process.

Action Requested:

Approval

Approved:

Compliance Committee

December 13, 2005

Motion passed unopposed.
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Notes on SPP Exclusion Process:
The SPP Exclusion Process allows members to request three [3] types of exclusions:
1.

Waiver – A member can request a waiver of a SPP Criteria if the member
agrees that it is responsible for the Criteria but has a structural, on-going
problem in complying with the Criteria that has been approved. The
member or the SPP working group must suggest an alternative measure of
compliance for the member that is seeking the waiver.
Example: AECC has some very unusual load characteristics that makes
compliance with the SPP UFLS program almost impossible. A different
measurement technique for AECC can be developed and applied during the
annual compliance surveys.

2.

Exception – A member can request an exception from compliance with a SPP
Criteria if the member agrees that is responsible for the Criteria but an
unusual event has created circumstances beyond the member’s control
and it cannot comply in the measurement timeframe. The member seeking the
exception must agree to put forth all reasonable efforts to bring itself into
compliance in the next measurement timeframe.
Example: In 2005, Hurricanes Katrina and Rita had a significant impact on
the CLECO service territory. They may present an exception request for the
annual transmission relay maintenance program including a mitigation plan to
gain compliance in 2006.

3.

Exemption - A member can request an exemption from compliance with a
SPP Criteria if the member believes it is not responsible for complying
with the Criteria. The member must present its rationale to the SPP working
group to support the exemption request.
Example: This would be an unusual request because the Compliance Group
will handle most exemptions administratively before the start of the annual
programs. However, the members and SPP needs this capability if a situation
arises where a member changes functions and needs to request an exemption.

R.W. Ciesiel

2-14-05
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SPP Criteria Exclusion Process
1) Complete the SPP Criteria Exclusion Form [Appendix XX of SPP Criteria]
2) Attach any background material needed to support the exclusion (documents,
studies, research, etc.).
3) Submit the form and materials to the appropriate SPP working group[s] chair,
vice-chair, and secretary for preliminary comments.
4) The working group[s] will add the exclusion request to the agenda of the next
regularly scheduled meeting. Under rare occasions, if the matter warrants
action before the next scheduled meeting, the working group chair may call a
special meeting.
5) Working group[s] will vote for or against granting the exclusion. If the
requesting member is represented on the working group, that member will not
be allowed to vote. If the member’s representative is the Chair of the working
group, then for discussions on the proposed exclusion, the chair’s authority will
be assigned to the Vice-Chair.
6) a) If the working group approves the exclusion request, the requesting member
has the responsibility to present the exclusion request to the SPP Markets and
Operations Policy Committee [MOPC] at the next regularly scheduled MOPC
meeting. This request will be in the form of an ‘action item’ agenda item,
including a prospective effective date. Under rare occasions, if the matter
warrants action before the next scheduled meeting, the MOPC chair may call a
special meeting.
b) If the working group does not approve the exclusion request, the requesting
member may withdraw the request or present an appeal of the working group’s
findings to the SPP Markets and Operations Policy Committee [MOPC] at the
next regularly scheduled MOPC meeting. This request will be in the form of an
‘action item’ agenda item. Under rare occasions, if the matter warrants action
before the next scheduled meeting, the MOPC chair may call a special meeting.
7) a) If the MOPC approves the exclusion, including the effective date, the
conditions specified shall be applied by the SPP Compliance department
beginning on the approved effective date.
b) If the MOPC does not approve the exclusion request, the requesting member
may withdraw the request or present an appeal of the MOPC’s findings to the
SPP Board of Directors Compliance Committee [CC] at the next regularly
scheduled meeting. This request will be in the form of an ‘action item’ agenda
item.
8) a) If the CC approves the exclusion, including the effective date, the conditions
specified shall be applied by the SPP Compliance department beginning on the
approved effective date.
b) If the CC does not approve the exclusion request, the requesting member may
withdraw the exclusion request or pursue other appeal avenues available, as
outlined in the SPP Bylaws or Membership Agreement..

R.W. Ciesiel

2-14-05
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ATTACHMENT AJ
EXTERNAL MARKET MONITOR (EMM)
SERVICES AGREEMENT

Pursuant to Section 3.1 of Attachment AG, SPP may delegate certain responsibilities
pursuant to a contract with an External Market Monitor. Any such effective contract or
contracts shall be included in this Attachment AJ.
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Attachment AJ-1
Contract with External Market Monitor
EXTERNAL MARKET MONITOR SERVICES AGREEMENT
This External Market Monitor Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is made by and
between Southwest Power Pool, Inc. (“SPP”), an Arkansas corporation, and Boston
Pacific Company, Inc. (the “EMM”), a District of Columbia corporation. (SPP and the
EMM shall be referred to individually herein as a “Party” and collectively as the
“Parties.”) All references in this Agreement (including any exhibits or attachments) to
the SPP Board of Directors here includes any committees or persons to which or whom
the Board of Directors has assigned certain responsibilities. Capitalized terms here refer
to terms defined in the Tariff (including revisions proposed as part of the energy
imbalance tariff proposal, though after Commission action the definitions shall be as
accepted by the Commission) or as otherwise defined in this Agreement.
1.

Engagement of Services. SPP hereby retains the EMM to assume the
responsibilities listed in Exhibit A and to perform the individual tasks (“Tasks”)
identified in Exhibit B attached hereto. The aggregation of all Tasks shall be
identified herein as the “Services.” The Services may be modified from time to
time upon mutual agreement of the Parties. If such modifications necessitate an
increase or decrease in either (a) the amount due or (b) the time required for
performance, such matters shall be agreed upon in writing prior to proceeding
with the change. No payment shall be made by SPP for any modification not so
directed or authorized prior to proceeding with the modification.

2.

Compensation. SPP shall pay the EMM for the Services as identified in Exhibit C
attached hereto. SPP shall also pay the EMM’s reasonable expenses in
accordance with the procedures identified in Exhibit C. SPP reserves the right to
audit and to examine any cost, payment, settlement or supporting documentation
resulting from the provision of any Services. Any such audit(s) shall be
undertaken by SPP or its representative from a certified public accounting firm at
reasonable times and in conformance with generally accepted auditing standards.
The EMM agrees to fully cooperate with any such audit(s).

3.

Monthly Charges. The total monthly charges for Services and expenses shall be
referred to herein as the Monthly Charges. The EMM shall submit an invoice on
a monthly basis for the Monthly Charges and SPP shall pay the EMM as
described in Exhibit C for all undisputed amounts, provided that the EMM
provides documents with reasonable receipts or other documentation of expenses
as SPP might request, including copies of time records. If SPP disputes any
amount of the Monthly Charges, then SPP shall identify in writing the reason for
challenging such portion of the Monthly Charges, and the Parties shall attempt to
resolve such dispute.

4.

Limitation on Monthly Charges. Limitations on Monthly Charges are described
in Exhibit C.
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5.

Independent Contractor Relationship. The EMM’s relationship with SPP is that
of an independent contractor, and nothing in this Agreement is intended to, or
should be construed to, create a partnership, agency, joint venture or employment
relationship; provided, however, the EMM is to act consistent with the terms of
this contract which make it subject to oversight by SPP’s Board of Directors and
which requires coordination with the SPP Market Monitor. The EMM shall not be
entitled to any of the benefits which SPP may make available to its employees,
including, but not limited to, group health or life insurance, profit sharing or
retirement benefits. The EMM is not authorized to make any representation,
contract or commitment on behalf of SPP unless specifically requested or
authorized in writing to do so by SPP. The EMM is solely responsible for, and
shall file, on a timely basis, all tax returns and payments required to be filed with,
or made to, any federal, state or local tax authority with respect to the
performance of services and receipt of fees under this Agreement. The EMM is
solely responsible for, and must maintain adequate records of, expenses incurred
in the course of performing services under this Agreement. No part of the
EMM’s compensation shall be subject to withholding by SPP for the payment of
any social security, federal, state or any other employee payroll taxes. SPP shall
have no responsibility for any of the EMM’s debts, liabilities or other obligations,
or for the intentional, reckless or negligent acts or omissions of the EMM or
EMM’s employees or agents.

6.

Ownership of Intellectual Property.
6.1
Any idea, invention, work of authorship, drawing, design, formula,
algorithm, utility, tool, pattern, compilation, program, device, method, technique,
process, improvement, development or discovery (hereinafter, collectively,
“Inventions”), whether or not patentable, or copyrightable, or entitled to legal
protection as a trade secret or otherwise, that the EMM may conceive, make,
develop, create, reduce to practice, in the course of performing work under this
Agreement shall be owned by the EMM. The EMM hereby grants to SPP an
irrevocable, assignable, nonexclusive royalty-free unrestricted license to use,
copy, distribute and make derivatives of any proprietary rights or specialized
knowledge of the EMM that are part of any work product furnished by the EMM
to SPP under this Agreement for SPP’s and its affiliates’, members’, and
regulators’ internal use.
6.2
All documents, including but not limited to, drawings, specifications, and
computer software prepared by the EMM pursuant to this Agreement are
instruments of service in respect to the Services. They are not intended or
represented to be suitable for reuse by SPP or others on extensions of the Services
or on any other project. Any reuse without prior written verification or adaptation
by the EMM for the specific purpose intended will be at SPP’s sole risk and
without liability or legal exposure to the EMM. SPP shall defend, indemnify, and
hold harmless the EMM against all claims, losses, damages, injuries, and
expenses, including attorneys’ fees arising out of or resulting from such reuse.
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Any verification or adaptation of documents will entitle the EMM to additional
compensation at rates to be agreed upon by SPP and the EMM.
7.

Intellectual Property Rights. The EMM expressly warrants that there has been no
violation, misappropriation or infringement of any trade secret, patent, trademark,
copyright, or other third party property right (including without limitation, any
violation of a third party license) in any way connected with or arising out of
performing the work specified in this Agreement.

8.

Confidential and Non-Public Information. The EMM agrees to hold SPP’s and
Market Participants Confidential and Non-Public Information in strict confidence
and not to disclose such Confidential and Non-Public Information to any third
parties, or to use such Confidential and Non-Public Information, except for
purposes relating to the EMM’s responsibilities as SPP’s EMM. The EMM shall
comply with the provisions of Section 7 of Attachment AE of the SPP Tariff (both
as proposed by SPP and once accepted by the Commission, with the accepted
version) with regard to the use and disclosure of such Confidential and NonPublic Information. Upon termination of this Agreement by either party for any
reason, the EMM agrees to promptly deliver to SPP the original and any copies of
the Confidential and Non-Public Information. The EMM agrees to certify in
writing that the EMM has so returned all such Confidential and Non-Public
Information.

9.

Conflicts of Interest. The EMM warrants that there is no conflict of interest (as
defined in the terms of Exhibit D) between the EMM’s other agreements, if any,
and the activities to be performed hereunder. The EMM shall advise SPP if a
potential conflict of interest arises, as required by Exhibit D.

10.

Insurance. Before commencing the work, the EMM shall procure and maintain at
its own expense the following minimum insurance in forms and with insurance
companies acceptable to SPP:
10.1 Workers’ Compensation insurance for statutory obligations imposed by
Workers Compensation, Occupational Disease, or other similar laws, including,
where applicable, the United States Longshore and Harbor Workers’ Act, the
Federal Employees Act, and the Jones Act. Employers’ liability insurance shall
be provided with a minimum umbrella limit of $1,000,000 per occurrence.
10.2 Business automobile liability insurance with the following minimum limit
of liability:
$1,000,000 combined single limit per occurrence.
This insurance is to apply to all owned, non-owned, hired, and leased vehicles
used by the EMM in the performance of the work.
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10.3 Business general liability insurance including contractual liability
insurance covering all operations required to complete the project with the
following minimum limit of liability:
$1,000,000 combined single limit per occurrence.
The contractual liability insurance coverage shall insure the performance of the
contractual obligations assumed by the EMM under this Agreement.
The commercial general liability insurance coverage shall name SPP as an
additional insured and shall include a cross liability clause.
10.4 Professional liability (errors & omissions) insurance, where applicable,
covering the professional services being delivered by the EMM with the
following minimum limit of liability:
$1,000,000 per wrongful act.
11.

Term and Termination. The term of this Agreement shall be from January 1,
2006 through December 31, 2006. The Parties recognize that the SPP Board of
Directors before the end of this term will determine whether to extend, revise, or
not renew this contract. In addition, the Board of Directors may initiate
termination of this Agreement, with or without cause, at any time upon thirty (30)
days prior written notice to the EMM. The EMM may terminate this Agreement,
with or without cause, at any time upon sixty (60) days prior written notice to
SPP. Upon termination of this Agreement, SPP shall pay the EMM’s wind down
costs, and the EMM shall use best efforts to minimize all additional charges to
SPP as needed to wind down the Services. SPP shall be responsible for
submitting all filings necessary to reflect this termination.

12.

Noninterference with Business. For a period of two years immediately following
the conclusion of the EMM’s work hereunder, the EMM agrees not to solicit or
induce any employee or independent contractor of SPP to terminate or breach an
employment, contractual or other relationship with SPP. SPP agrees to the same
terms regarding employees of and subcontractors to the EMM.

13.

Survival. The rights and obligations contained in Sections 2 (“Compensation”), 6
(“Ownership of Intellectual Property”), 7 (“Intellectual Property Rights”), 8
(“Confidential Information”), 11 (“Term and Termination”), 13 (“Noninterference
with Business”), 10 (“Insurance to the extent of wind down activities”), and 22
(“Liability and Indemnification”) shall survive any termination or expiration of
this Agreement.

14.

Successors and Assigns. The EMM may not subcontract or otherwise delegate its
obligations under this Agreement, without SPP’s prior written consent, except it is
acknowledged that such approval is provided herein for the EMM’s named
subcontractors in Exhibit B. Subject to the foregoing, this Agreement shall be for
Page 5 of 20
100 of 127

Boston Pacific Services Agreement
FINAL Redacted

the benefit of SPP’s successors and assigns, and shall be binding on the EMM’s
assignees.
15.

Notices. Any notice required or permitted by this Agreement shall be in writing
and shall be delivered as follows with notice deemed given as indicated: (i) by
personal delivery when delivered personally; (ii) by overnight courier upon
written verification of receipt; (iii) by telecopy or facsimile transmission upon
acknowledgment of receipt of electronic transmission; or (iv) by certified or
registered mail, return receipt requested, upon verification of receipt. Notice shall
be sent to as set forth below or such other address as either party may specify in
writing.
If to SPP:
Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
415 North McKinley
140 Plaza West
Little Rock, AR 72205
Attn: Ms. Stacy Duckett
Phone: (501) 614-3296
Fax: (501) 664-9553
Email: sduckett@spp.org
If to the EMM:
Boston Pacific Company, Inc.
1100 New York Avenue, NW
Suite 490 East
Washington, DC 20005
Attn: Mr. Craig R. Roach
Phone: (202) 296-5520
Fax: (202) 296-5531
Email: croach@bostonpacific.com

16.

Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed in all respects by the laws of
the United States of America and by the laws of the State of Arkansas.

17.

Severability. Should any provisions of this Agreement be held by a court of law
to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable, the legality, validity and enforceability of
the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected or impaired
thereby.

18.

Waiver. The waiver by SPP of a breach of any provision of this Agreement by
the EMM shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any other or subsequent
breach by the EMM.

19.

Injunctive Relief for Breach. The EMM’s obligations under this Agreement are
of a unique character that gives them particular value; breach of any of such
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obligations shall result in irreparable and continuing damage to SPP for which
there shall be no adequate remedy at law; and, in the event of such breach, SPP
shall be entitled to injunctive relief and/or a decree for specific performance, and
such other and further relief as may be proper (including monetary damages if
appropriate).
20.

Disputes. In the event of any litigation to enforce or interpret any terms or
conditions of this Agreement, the parties agree that such action will be brought in
the Circuit Court of Pulaski County, Arkansas (or, if the federal courts have
exclusive jurisdiction over the subject matter of the dispute, in the U.S. District
Court for the District of Columbia), and the parties hereby submit to the exclusive
jurisdiction of said court. In any action in litigation to enforce or interpret any of
the terms or conditions of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to
recover from the unsuccessful party all costs, expenses (including expert
testimony) and reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred therein by the prevailing party.
In no event shall the litigation of any controversy or the settlement thereof delay
the performance of this Agreement.

21.

Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the
parties relating to this subject matter and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous
oral or written agreements concerning such subject matter. The terms of this
Agreement shall govern the Services undertaken by the EMM for SPP. While this
Agreement presently constitutes the entire relationship between the parties, the
provisions of any subsequent market monitoring plan that obtains FERC approval
are to be given deference in the case of a conflict with this Agreement. This
Agreement may only be changed by mutual agreement of authorized
representatives of the parties in writing. Licensing, Intellectual Property Rights
and Ownership, and other issues specific to the hardware and software to be
produced under a supplemental scope of work will be addressed at the time of
such supplemental scope of work.

22.

Liability and Indemnification. The EMM shall not be liable to SPP for any
matter, act or omission under this Agreement, including, but not limited to
financial loss or damages of any kind resulting from any act or omission under
this Agreement, unless the EMM is found to have been grossly negligent or
engaged in willful misconduct by a court of competent jurisdiction.
SPP shall indemnify and hold harmless the EMM from any and all actions,
claims, demands, costs and liabilities to third parties relating to the
implementation of this Agreement, except to the extent that such action, claim,
demand, cost or liability results from the gross negligence or willful misconduct
of the EMM.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the
date first written above.

Southwest Power Pool, Inc.

Boston Pacific Company, Inc.

By:

By:

Name: Nick Brown

Name: Craig R. Roach

Title: President

Title: President

Date: January __, 2006

Date: January __, 2006
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EXHIBIT A
RESPONSIBILITIES, RIGHTS, AND OBLIGATIONS

Under Section 3.1 of Attachment AG, the Market Monitor which is the SPP entity
with market monitoring responsibilities has the full responsibility for market monitoring
under this Tariff. However, SPP may delegate some of those responsibilities by contract
to an External Market Monitor (EMM). The following explains that delegation as well as
certain other rights and obligations.

DELEGATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES
The general theme of the delegation of responsibilities is that the EMM focuses
on design and periodic monitoring. The following sets out the tasks delegated to the
EMM. All other market monitoring functions will be provided by the SPP Market
Monitor.
EMM Responsibilities
1. Proposing to the SPP Board of Directors and designing Market Power
Mitigation Measures and Market Monitoring Plan.
2. At the request of SPP, supporting SPP in obtaining Commission approvals
including the preparation of testimony and participation in conferences. In that
support role, the EMM shall work under the supervision or direction of the
Board of Directors or its designate.
3. Recommending to the SPP Board of Directors updates to Mitigation Measures
and the Monitoring Plan.
4. Conducting periodic monitoring (to identify and assess trends in market
behavior).
5. Produce (a) an Annual State of the Market Report, (b) Quarterly and Annual
Metrics Reports for Inter-RTO Comparison and (c) Quarterly Reports on
Instances of Market Power and provide such reports to entities as required by
the Tariff.
6. Review SPP’s Market Design and recommend changes to the SPP Board of
Directors as necessary.
7. Produce an Annual Review of the Market Monitor for the SPP Board of
Directors.
8. As directed by the Board of Directors, responding to requests for information
and reports as requested by the Commission, a Market Participant, or
Interested Government Agency.
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9. As directed by the Board of Directors, responding to inquiries as requested by
the Commission, a Market Participant, or Interested Government Agency.
10. Attend SPP meetings as requested by the SPP Board of Directors or Market
Monitor.
11. Aid the SPP Market Monitor in other tasks mutually agreed to by the EMM
and the Market Monitor.
12. Advise the SPP Board of Directors as requested by the Board of Directors.

RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS
1. The EMM shall be retained by and report to the SPP Board of Directors. All
EMM activities must be communicated to and approved by the Board of
Directors in a manner defined by the Board of Directors. The independence
of the EMM is derived from the independence of the Board of Directors.
2. The EMM shall coordinate its activities with the Market Monitor including all
communications with FERC Staff, state regulators, the Commission, and the
RSC, and shall notify the Market Monitor of those communications prior to
their taking place to the extent feasible. The EMM shall seek the advice of the
Market Monitor where appropriate.
3. The EMM recognizes that it is a contractor of SPP and has a good faith duty
to carry out the terms of this contract. SPP has a good faith duty to carry out
the terms of this contract.
4. The EMM will submit draft reports to SPP for review prior to publication and
give full consideration to SPP feedback on such drafts. However, SPP may
not screen, alter, delete or delay the EMM’s findings, conclusions and
recommendations.
5. Any Market Participant or Interested Government Agency may raise any issue
with the Market Monitor and request that the EMM consider the issue in its
monitoring and reporting. With the permission of the Board of Directors and
in coordination with the Market Monitor, the EMM may include this issue in
its monitoring or reporting if it determines it is appropriate to do so.
6. As a general principle, the EMM may obtain input from the Market Monitor,
Market Working Group, FERC Staff, SPP Staff, SPP Regional State
Committee, and any other SPP Organizational Group for the purpose of
executing its duties so long as it coordinates with the Market Monitor as
provided in this Agreement.
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7. The EMM shall coordinate its reporting discussed above with the Market
Monitor before submitting those reports. If the Market Monitor disagrees
with the EMM, the EMM shall note that disagreement in the report.
8. The SPP Market Monitor shall coordinate its activities with the EMM
including all communications with FERC Staff, state regulators, the
Commission, and the RSC, and shall notify the EMM of those
communications prior to their taking place to the extent feasible. The SPP
Market Monitor shall seek the advice of the EMM where appropriate.
9. The EMM shall abide by the conflicts of interest and code of ethics policies
contained in its EMM Services Agreement with SPP, which shall be
appropriate for establishing the professional and financial independence of the
EMM from all Market Participants.
10. The EMM will assure that any of its subcontractors abide by the conflicts of
interest and code of ethics policies contained in its EMM Services Agreement
with SPP.
11. The EMM shall have access to all Data and Information gathered or generated
by SPP in the course of its operations to the extent relevant to its tasks
assigned by this Agreement.
12. SPP shall aid the EMM in obtaining the data relevant to its tasks from Market
Participants as provided in the Tariff.
13. The EMM may at any time bring any matter to the attention of the Board of
Directors, subject to any coordination required above.

SUBCONTRACTORS
The EMM’s approved subcontractors are Professor Ross Baldick and Appian
Corp.
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EXHIBIT B
STATEMENT OF WORK

TIME PERIOD COVERED BY THE STATEMENT OF WORK
This Statement of Work covers the period from January 1, 2006 through
December 31, 2006. The purpose of the Statement of Work is to provide more detail on
the focus and prioritization of the EMM’s work in 2006. The Statement of Work
presumes the EIS Market comes on line as scheduled on May 1, 2006.

STATEMENT OF WORK
Work pursuant to these tasks will be performed at the direction and approval of
the SPP Board of Directors and in coordination with the SPP Market Monitor. For
purposes of Exhibit B, the term Board of Directors is synonymous with Compliance
Committee of the Board of Directors. To the extent of a conflict between this Exhibit B
and Exhibit A, Exhibit A shall control.
Task 1: Proposing and designing the Market Power Mitigation Plan and the
Market Monitoring Plan and supporting SPP in obtaining FERC approval.
The EMM will assist SPP in obtaining final FERC approval for the Market Power
Mitigation Plan and the Market Monitoring Plan submitted as part of SPP’s EIS
Market filing, by preparing testimony and, as requested, communicating with or
responding to FERC in other ways. For budgeting, it is assumed that FERC asks
for only limited clarification on issues related to market power mitigation and
monitoring.
Task 2: Recommend updates to the Market Power Mitigation Plan and the
Market Monitoring Plan.
The EMM will study and propose refinements to the Market Power Mitigation
Plan and the Market Monitoring Plan. Upon approval of the Board of Directors
or its designate, the EMM will make and support Protocol Revision Requests
(PRR) at MWG and at MOPC or before other SPP Organizational Groups. As
requested, the EMM will prepare testimony to support SPP filings at FERC.
Task 3: Conducting Periodic Monitoring.
The EMM will conduct periodic assessments for the purpose of identifying trends
in market behavior. The focus will be periodic studies of issues including: abuse
of portfolio bidding; coverage of scheduling penalties; effect of a voluntary
market for sellers and a mandatory market for buyers; economic transmission
withholding; physical transmission withholding; and unavailability of facilities.
This periodic monitoring will primarily involve longer term (no less than a full
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quarter) quantitative assessment using the necessary data, which is to be provided
by SPP.
Task 4: Produce Reports
The EMM will prepare the 2005 Annual State of the Market Report.
When the EIS Market starts, Quarterly and Annual Metrics Reports for Inter-RTO
Comparisons will be prepared. If possible, the EMM’s role will be limited to
reviewing drafts of these reports prepared by the Market Monitor before they are
sent out in final form. In the event the EMM is directed to prepare a Report, the
EMM will ask for substantial support from the Market Monitor.
The EMM will prepare Quarterly Reports on Instances of Market Power.
Task 5: Review SPP’s market design and recommend changes as necessary.
Unless otherwise directed by the Board of Directors, the EMM will participate in
MWG meetings (in person or by phone) with the goal of reviewing SPP’s current
and emerging market design for market power concerns. Participation includes,
as appropriate, attending the meetings and submitting commentary or PRRs.
MWG consideration of refinements in Task 2 also is included.
Task 6: Produce an Annual Review of the Market Monitor for the Board of
Directors.
The EMM will produce an Annual Review of the Market Monitor for the Board
of Directors. An explicit methodology will be developed and approved by the
Board of Directors prior to the Review, including: (a) metrics to be used, (b)
documentation to be required, (c) staffing assessment, (d) opportunity for
response from the Market Monitor, and (e) report results to SPP senior
management and the Board of Directors.
Task 7: Advise the SPP Board of Directors.
The EMM will attend (in person or by phone) all meetings of the Compliance
Committee and of the Board of Directors unless otherwise directed by the Board
of Directors. The EMM will advise the Board of Directors on any issue as
requested.
Task 8: Respond to Requests for Reviews of Market Activity
Any Market Participant or Interested Government Agency may raise any issue
with the Market Monitor and request in writing that the EMM consider the issue
in its monitoring and reporting. The EMM may include this issue in its monitoring
or reporting if it determines it is appropriate to do so. The EMM should not
monitor or report on any complaint pertaining to issues not related to SPP’s
Markets and Services or activities not monitored and overseen by the EMM.
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Within this context, (a) if the Market Participant or Interested Government
Agency states its preference in writing that the EMM consider the issue in its
monitoring and reporting or (b) if the Market Monitor states such a preference,
then the EMM will respond unless otherwise directed by the Board of Directors.
All of the EMM’s responses will be coordinated with the Market Monitor as
required above.

PRIORITIZATION OF TASKS
Table B-1 is provided to indicate the expected prioritization of the Tasks.
Specifically, it lists the percentage of the budget cap expected to be spent on each Task,
listed from highest to lowest.

TABLE B-1
PRIORITIZATION OF TASKS

Task
4
3
5
8
7
1
6
2

Abbreviated Task Title
Produce Reports
Periodic Monitoring
Review Market Design
Reviews (Inquiries)
Advise Board
Final FERC Approval
Market Monitor Review
Mitigation Updates
Total

Approximate %
Allocation Of Budget
Cap
__%
__%
__%
__%
__%
__%
__%
__%
100%
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EXHIBIT C
COMPENSATION

COMPENSATION AND PAYMENT
SPP shall compensate the EMM for an amount not to exceed $___ in 2006 for the
tasks described in the Statement of Work. Additional compensation above the $___ may
be requested from and must be approved by the SPP Board of Directors.
Reimbursement of Direct Expenses
SPP shall reimburse the EMM for direct expenses (relating to tasks in the
Statement of Work) such as travel and communication for a total amount not to exceed
__% of the total budget which includes $___ plus other compensation approved by the
SPP Board of Directors.
Direct expenses will be billed at cost as incurred.
Project Billing Period
The EMM shall prepare monthly invoices for work performed in the prior month
based on the EMM’s standard hourly rates. Invoices unpaid for 90 days will include a
__% per month interest charge for all time after 30 days.
The EMM’s standard hourly rates are as follows for 2006:
Labor Category
Principal
Managing Director
Project Director
Project Manager
Senior Consultant
Consultant
Research Assistant
Administrative

Hourly Rate
$___
$___
$___
$___
$___
$___
$___
$___

Project Billing Controls
The EMM shall establish project billing codes for each task set forth in this
Statement of Work such that costs per task can be tracked.
Expanded SPP Membership
The budget caps herein presume the current SPP membership. If the SPP
membership and/or the types of membership change significantly, the parties will
negotiate appropriate revisions to the budget caps.
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EXHIBIT D
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
Prohibited Engagements
The EMM shall not advise any client on SPP matters including, but not limited to,
SPP’s market(s), transmission system, or market rules, and shall not be engaged by any
client in any litigation, open regulatory docket, alternative dispute resolution procedure,
or arbitration with SPP.
The EMM will not appear for or against a SPP Member before a state regulatory
commission within the SPP footprint in any new engagement in the electricity business
(after the date of signature) except as required by its role as the SPP EMM or as
requested by the state regulatory commission. [The term “footprint” refers to the area
covered by the transmission system for which SPP is the transmission provider.]
The EMM will not appear for or against a SPP Member before the Federal Energy
Regulatory Commission (FERC) on any matter within the SPP footprint in any new
engagement in the electricity business (after the date of signature) except as required by
its role as the SPP EMM or as requested by FERC.
Engagements to Clear
Before the EMM accepts any engagement that involves clients with SPP-related
business interests or clients with business interests in markets inextricably connected to
SPP, it must inform the SPP Board of Directors of such potential engagement and obtain
the Board’s determination that such engagement would not present a conflict of interest
or result in the material appearance of conflict before accepting such engagement.
No Direct Financial Interests
Persons of the EMM assisting in this Statement of Work shall not have a direct
equity or other financial interest in a SPP Member(s) or affiliate of a SPP Member that is
involved in the electricity business. (The term “direct” is meant to exclude investments
such as mutual funds in which a person has no direct control.)
Code of Ethics
All employees of the EMM and its subcontractors (retained for the purpose of
fulfilling this agreement) will sign the attached Code of Ethics. (Please see Attachment
D-One)
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ATTACHMENT D- ONE
CODE OF ETHICS
FOR THE SPP EMM ENGAGEMENT
It is understood that credibility is crucial to the success of any independent market
monitor (EMM) and that, to be credible, the EMM must be impartial in its investigations,
findings, and recommendations. That is, the EMM must not favor one SPP Member over
another or be influenced improperly by any SPP Member. The purpose of this code of
ethics is to reinforce the commitment to impartiality. Therefore, while an employee of
(or subcontractor for) Boston Pacific Company, Inc, I will adhere to the following
standards:
1. I will abide by all provisions of the SPP EMM Services Agreement and this Code
of Ethics throughout the term of the SPP EMM Services Agreement;
2. I will not advise anyone about whether or how to participate in any SPP market(s)
for energy, capacity, or ancillary services or on whether and how to secure
transmission service within the SPP footprint, other than as required in my role as
the SPP EMM;
3. I will not work on any engagement related to the electricity business within the
SPP footprint without the approval of the SPP Board of Directors or its delegate;
4. I will not appear for or against a SPP Member before a state regulatory
commission within the SPP footprint in any new engagement in the electricity
business except as required by my role as the SPP EMM or as requested by the
state regulatory commission;
5. I will not appear for or against a SPP Member before the Federal Energy
Regulatory Commission (FERC) on any matter within the SPP footprint in any
new engagement in the electricity business except as required by my role as the
SPP EMM or as requested by the FERC;
6. I will be impartial in my evaluation of the conduct of each SPP Member and each
market rule. That is, I will weigh all points of view and all available evidence
when coming to a decision, and will not show preferential treatment to any one
SPP Member over another in any work done as the SPP EMM;
7. I will not willfully divulge to any unauthorized person any confidential
information obtained in my work as the SPP EMM;
8. I will not allow any engagement or personal and/or professional relationship to
impair my impartiality as the SPP EMM;
9. Any engagement with a SPP Member outside the SPP footprint will be done at
my firm’s standard rates and terms; and
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10. I will not hold a direct financial interest in any SPP Member or affiliate of a SPP
Member that is involved in the electricity business.

Acknowledged and Agreed:

_________________________________
Employee Name (or Subcontractor)

__________________
Date
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EXTERNAL MARKET MONITOR REPORT
SPP BOARD OF DIRECTORS/MEMBER COMMITTEE MEETING
IRVING, TEXAS
JANUARY 31, 2006

I.

SPP’S FERC FILING: JANUARY 4, 2006
A. EMM submitted Testimony
B. Brief comment on interventions and protests
C. Three items related to filing “coming back” to Board

II.

EMM SERVICES AGREEMENT
(See enclosure in Board Materials)

III.

SECOND DRAFT OF INITIAL ASSESSMENT
(See enclosure in Board Materials)

IV.

NEXT
A. 2005 State of the Market Report
B. Preparation for Market Start

\\POWERVAULT\FILECABINET\ACTIVE PROJECTS\SPP\2006 SPP\BOARD OF DIRECTORS\IRVING
TEXAS_AGENDA_1_23_06.DOC

BOSTON PACIFIC COMPANY, INC.
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
FINANCE COMMITTEE
Recommendation to the Board of Directors
January 31, 2006

2006 SAS70 AUDIT PROGRAM
Organizational Roster
The following persons are members of the Finance Committee:
Harry Skilton
Larry Altenbaumer
Gary Voigt
Trudy Harper
Doug Henry
Michael Desselle

Director
Director
Arkansas Electric Cooperatives Corp.
Tenaska
Westar Energy
American Electric Power

Background
In 2005, SPP engaged PWC to perform a Type I audit of its control environment in accordance with
Statement on Auditing Standards 70 (“SAS 70”) with an effective date of October 31, 2005. The
engagement was deemed necessary to assist members in meeting their Sarbanes-Oxley Act Section 404
requirements. The Type I audit included procedures to obtain reasonable assurance that SPP’s stated
controls over its transmission services were 1) accurately described, 2) suitably designed, and 3) placed
in operation as of October 31, 2005. PWC issued their report on December 1, 2005 with qualifications in
the logical security area.
The decision to have a Type I audit in 2005 was based primarily on auditor recommendation that a
preferred approach was for an organization to have the experience of first undergoing a Type I audit
rather than proceeding directly to a more involved Type II audit. Now that the Type I audit for 2005 has
been completed, the next step is to begin preparation for a Type II audit involving both transmission and
imbalance energy transactions in 2006. The Type II audit is somewhat more involved compared to a
Type I audit in that the Type II audit will assess the operating effectiveness of the organization’s control
environment over a period of time (generally six months). The Type II audit will provide significant benefit
for those entities with Sarbanes-Oxley certification requirements as their external auditors will be able to
fully utilize the Type II audit to document adequacy over controls for those services provided by SPP for
both transmission and imbalance energy services.
Analysis
Since the Type II audit requires testing over a 6 month cycle in the calendar year, the planned testing
phase needs to incorporate the anticipated start date of the SPP market. Field work would need to be
completed no later than October 31 to allow final report preparation and presentation to the Committee by
the end of 2006. This would equate to an audit start date of May 1, which would be concurrent with the
anticipated commencement date of the SPP market. Given the early state the market will be in at the
onset of the Type II audit period, processes and procedures may not be operating at an optimal
effectiveness level; therefore, creating the situation for a potentially qualified Type II audit opinion as it
relates to the market operations. Depending on the level of mitigating internal controls at our member
companies, this could impact their ability to meet Sarbanes-Oxley requirements.
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Although an alternative exists to begin field work for transmission transactions on April 1 followed by
inclusion of the imbalance market in May, there would not be six full months of testing coverage for the
new market. This would most likely result in several caveats and limited assurance for reporting on the
adequacy of controls. The earlier start date would also limit the time available for the readiness
assessment to be completed prior to commencement of testing.
SPP staff conducted a conference call on January 3rd with member internal audit staff to discuss issues
surrounding the 2006 audit plan, specifically the challenges associated with implementing an imbalance
energy market concurrently with a Type II audit. Member companies represented at this meeting were as
follows: AEP, OG+E, Westar, Aquila, Xcel Energy, and Empire District. At the conclusion of that meeting,
SPP requested meeting participants to provide written feedback as to their need for the Type II audit as
well as confirmation of the level of mitigating controls (including shadow settlement capabilities) present
within their company that could be used to offset potential qualifications noted during the audit. Also,
numerous follow up meetings were conducted via phone with member companies to address their
specific concerns with the upcoming audit.
The opinions expressed by the member companies can be summarized as follows:
1) Most members agreed a Type II audit, even if qualified, would be beneficial to the members
assuming that the qualifications were not widespread. Most felt it would be better to have known
problems that could be possibly addressed with mitigating controls than it would be to manage
around the unknown. Some added that the discipline and focus on controls that are associated
with the performance of a Type II audit alone brings value to the process.
2) A few member companies stated they had the ability to “shadow settle” (i.e. recalculate) SPP's
invoice for the energy market with the exception of the market clearing price and uplift which are
computed from data that is not visible to the market participants. However, members asserting
the “shadow settlement capability” wanted to place a qualification around their comfort level with
this control since it has yet to be implemented. While they expect the control to be effective,
unforeseen conditions could impact its effectiveness.
3) Conversely, a few member companies stated that they did not have the capability to “shadow
settle” SPP’s market invoices and therefore, it was vitally important that either a SAS 70 audit or
substantive procedures (e.g. agreed upon procedures) be performed in order for them to gain
comfort over SPP’s controls relative to the market.
4) Although most members were in agreement that a Type II audit was the preferred course of
action, it should be noted there was some concern expressed as to whether the cost of the audit
would outweigh the benefits.
Fee Considerations
The estimated fee for the engagement of $587,500 – 662,500 was developed based on numerous
assumptions. The most significant assumption relates to the time involved to perform the work. PWC
has estimated 2,350 – 2,650 hours of time to complete the assignment. The estimated fees and hours
can be itemized between the Type II Audit and Readiness Assessment as follows:
Readiness Assessment - 400 - 500 hours $100,000 - $125,000
Type II Audit
- 1950 – 2150 hours $487,500 - $537,500
The readiness assessment assumes coverage of the market operations and select IT areas only. Actual
time will vary and may result in an increase or decrease in the final cost of the audit. Out of pocket
expenses are not included in the above estimates. Such expenses typically range from 10-15% of the
service fees.
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Recommendation
Recommend to SPP’s Board of Directors the engagement of Price Waterhouse Coopers to perform a
readiness assessment of the controls associated with SPP’s EIS market and a Type II SAS70 audit of
SPP’s controls surrounding transmission and imbalance energy services.

Approved:

Finance Committee

Action Requested:

Approve Recommendation

January 17, 2006
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
FINANCE COMMITTEE
Recommendation to the Board of Directors
January 31, 2006

PRIMARY OPERATIONS FACILITY
Organizational Roster
The following persons are members of the Finance Committee:
Harry Skilton
Larry Altenbaumer
Michael Desselle
Trudy Harper
Doug Henry
Gary Voigt

Director
Director
AEP
Tenaska
Westar Energy
Arkansas Electric Cooperatives Corp.

Ad Hoc Member Group
Mel Perkins
Gerry Burrows
Ricky Bittle
Jason Atwood
Tom Stuchlik
Bill Grant

OG&E
KCPL
Arkansas Electric Cooperatives Corp.
Calpine
Westar Energy
Xcel Energy

Background
The SPP Board of Directors previously endorsed a recommendation from the Finance Committee dated
October 8, 2004 authorizing SPP to proceed with the construction of a primary operations and data
center. At the time, costs for construction were estimated at $6.0 million with $3.5 million for construction
and an additional $2.5 million to replicate computer systems at the site. The October 8, 2004
recommendation is attached for reference. The scope and budget for the project now differ meaningfully
from the preliminary information endorsed by the SPP Board of Directors.
Analysis
SPP has performed its operations from a multi-tenant office tower in mid-town Little Rock since the mid
1970s. SPP’s operating responsibilities expanded tremendously in 1997 and 1998 with the
implementation of regional reliability coordination and regional tariff administration. SPP was able to
secure additional leased space in its Little Rock location to house its system coordination center and an
increasingly complex data center. Additionally, SPP established a remote operations center with minimal
functionality in space leased from an SPP member.
SPP moved forward in 2000 with the development of a real-time imbalance energy market in conjunction
with filing with the FERC for recognition as a RTO. SPP management identified the existing facility as a
significant risk in continuity of business for the successful implementation of the proposed market and
began studying mitigation options. The studies were discontinued following FERC’s decision not to
recognize SPP as a RTO in mid-2001.
SPP again reignited development of its imbalance energy market following Board of Director acceptance
of SPP’s Strategic Plan in mid 2003. SPP management again studied options to reduce or mitigate the
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risk of securing and maintaining SPP’s critical operations from the current facility. Options reviewed by
SPP Staff included outright purchase of the existing facility, lease of single tenant commercial property,
purchase of established commercial property, and construction of new commercial property.
SPP determined construction of a stand alone facility provided the most cost effective solution as well as
the best opportunity to obtain a facility which best satisfied SPP’s unique operational requirements as well
as the project requirements SPP established in its decision making process. Ideal project requirements
defined a facility which is geographically separate from any other SPP facility, secure, hardened against
meteorological events, contains large open space to house the coordination center, fully redundant
building systems, allows for future expansion, and is cost effective. Most of the options reviewed
struggled to meet numerous aspects of the ideal requirements. Existing facilities generally were not fully
redundant, storm hardened or cost effective when considering the “retro fit” requirements.
SPP management investigated numerous options to facilitate construction and ownership of the
proposed facility. These options were presented to the Finance Committee at its October 8, 2004
meeting. The Finance Committee determined the facility must be owned and fully controlled by SPP in
order to ensure the security of the facility, the operational integrity of the facility, and the continuity of
operations at the facility.
SPP senior management met with local commercial real estate developers to prepare a preliminary
design and budget for construction of a stand alone facility. Based on preliminary assessments of need
the functionality for the preliminary design was based on a “split operations” concept whereby SPP’s
critical operations would be performed from both its existing facility as well as the new facility. The new
1
facility would house SPP’s primary data center with the existing facility serving as a “mirrored ” back-up.
This operational structure would allow either site to immediately become the fully operational primary site
in the event the other site was no longer operating. Additionally, operating out of dual facilities seemed to
allow the new facility to be somewhat smaller in scope and, conceptually, less expensive to construct and
operate.
SPP presented an informational report to the Markets and Operations Policy Committee at its October 13,
2004 meeting. The report was presented to the MOPC as a part of SPP’s overall business continuity
plan.
Since approval of the recommendation by the Finance Committee on October 8, 2004 and the SPP Board
of Directors on October 27, 2004, SPP staff took an initial step in implementing the project by purchasing
a 10.5 acre tract of land in Maumelle, AR (located approximately 10 miles north of SPP’s existing
location). This location possessed several attributes which are attractive to SPP, including:
•

Size: 10.5 acres allows SPP to place the operations facility rather remotely on the site. SPP
intends to position the operations facility in the back corner of the site leaving ample land area for
construction of future office facilities should SPP determine to move its entire operations to this
site. Future construction will potentially provide an additional buffer protecting the operations
facility from the general track of damaging weather. The northerly location from SPP’s existing
facility mitigates the potential of a single weather event compromising both locations.

•

Location: Maumelle is a bedroom community of Little Rock with a very “tight” local government
consisting primarily of homeowners. As such, attractive industries in this community are primarily
warehouse operations, office and professional organizations, and minor manufacturing. This

1

Data centers which are “mirrored” are real time facilities functioning simultaneously using and
processing the same data.
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commercial base has contributed to the growth of the community without corresponding growth in
crime or transient citizens.
•

Cost: SPP was able to obtain this tract for $300,000 or just over $28,500/acre. Other available
sites evaluated by SPP were offered at approximately twice the per acre cost and were
substantially smaller (3 to 5 acres).

SPP engaged an architect and general contractor to work with an internal SPP employee group to design
and construct the facility. The team initially determined SPP’s scope of operations has changed since the
new facility project was developed in 2004. First, SPP’s operations staff determined significant
inefficiencies and potential risk of miscommunication which may occur were SPP’s critical operations split
between two sites (as originally planned). The plans needed to be modified to provide sufficient space to
house all of SPP’s operations staff in this single facility. Second, SPP will now provide numerous
services to individual utilities under stand-alone contracts. The scope of work required under these
contracts necessitates an increase in staff which has resulted in an increase in the planned size of the
new operations facility. Third, there was a determination as part of the implementation of the Energy
Imbalance market that additional shift personnel were required to maintain reliable operations.
Changes in the IT infrastructure have resulted in increased costs to fully furnish the facility.
Implementation of a formal control environment within SPP has increased the hardware and software
license requirements of the IT department. The additional hardware is required to support applications
designed to monitor the systems and track changes within the system and applications. Additionally,
SPP has enhanced its system backup capabilities to provide more dependable restoration ability. Finally,
changes in the Energy Imbalance Service system architecture have resulted in an increase in the number
of hardware components required to operate the system.
The staff group reviewed SPP’s requirements, both near term and longer term, and developed several
enhancements to the facility beyond those contemplated when endorsed by the Board of Directors. The
more significant of these are outlined below:
•

Increase building size by 33% to nearly 20,000 sq. ft. - Since the initial conception of the
project SPP staff has determined greater efficiencies can be gained by housing all operations at
the site (previously planned to operate out of both sites simultaneously). Additional size was also
required to house reliability and tariff operations supporting contract services as well as additional
shift personnel. Finally, more space was added to support future growth in operations.

•

Fully redundant electrical and HVAC systems – The preliminary design and budget of the
facility included standard commercial electricity service from the local utility and a back-up
generator to provide for short-term outages. The critical nature of the operations as well as
creating a prudent environment for SPP’s systems dictated enhanced electrical capacity. The
revised design provides for a 1,300 kW diesel powered generator and dual 225 KVA
uninterruptible power supply units. Conduit will be installed to support an additional generator
and two additional UPS units. Specialized electrical needs are primarily dependent on the
number of computer environments contained in the data center. The remainder of the building
has electricity utilization consistent with general office space. The density of the data center
electricity draw is estimated at 60 volt amps / sq. foot which is consistent with the electricity draw
of the data center in SPP’s Plaza West office site. The cooling plan for the data center is
designed for three 20-ton units to provide N+1 redundancy. The facility will be designed to
accommodate expansion of the cooling capacity as the density of data center assets increases.

Budget: The preliminary design budget for the facility was prepared in 2004 based on the “concept”
description of the facility at the time. The budget was prepared in advance of site selection. Costs were
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assumed based on a dollar per square foot approach and utilized estimates based on historical data and
a 14,700 sq. ft. facility.
($000s)
$1,176
1,089
882
103
239
200
$3,689

Building Shell
Land Costs and Site Work
Tenant Improvements
Architectural Services
Miscellaneous
Contingency
Total

The current budget for the facility is based on the specifications outlined in the detailed design and
development documents produced by the architect. These drawings were utilized by the general
contractor and sub-contractors to arrive at initial bids for the project. The current budget is detailed below
($ amounts in thousands except for per square foot data).
Land Acquisition (10.5 acres)
Site Work
Site Infrastructure
Earthwork
Asphalt & Paving
Utilities
Miscellaneous

Building Shell

Concrete
Tilt-up Concrete Panels
Structural Steel
Bitumen Roofing
Drywall
Tile, Carpet, Paint
Miscellaneous

Tenant Improvements
Raised Flooring
Mechanical
Electrical
Miscellaneous

$291
312
108
138
69
$290
253
277
165
112
128
278
159
804
861
141

$46.87/sf

$344
$918

$76.74/sf

$1,503

$100.33/sf

$1,965

Miscellaneous
Contingency
Total

$445
$259
$5,434

Significant unfavorable variances exist in all categories of construction ($000):

Land/Site
Building Shell
Tenant Improvements
Misc, Contingency, Architect

Original
Budget
$1,089
1,176
882
542

New
Budget
$1,262
1,503
1,965
704

Variance
-$173
-327
-1,083
-162

Fav/Unfav
Unfav
Unfav
Unfav
Unfav

Management and Timeline – SPP formed a team of staff members to manage the project through
completion. This team is comprised of representatives from each of SPP’s major functional groups with a
heavy weighting towards operations and information technology. The team’s initial responsibility was
centered on defining the requirements of the facility. Thereafter, the team was charged with selection of
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an architect and general contractor and meeting with these vendors throughout the term of the project to
ensure timely completion.
Cromwell Architects Engineers, Inc. (“Cromwell”) was selected to design and engineer the facility.
Cromwell, Little Rock’s largest architectural firm, has extensive experience in corporate and industrial
design. The firm maintains its own in-house engineering discipline to enhance communication between
the design architect and civil, electrical, and mechanical engineers. This aspect of Cromwell, together
with its excellent reputation, references, and team attitude led to their selection for this project.
Baldwin & Shell Construction Company (“B&S”) was selected to perform general contractor services for
this project. B&S is a 60 year old construction company based in Little Rock. B&S promotes a team
approach for construction which has been very successful for the firm. B&S demonstrates their success
by noting the large amount of repeat business the company attains. Significant clients include J.B. Hunt,
Murphy Oil, Arkansas State University, and Baptist Health Systems.
PDC Companies (“PDC”) has been selected to perform project management services on this project.
PDC has over 20 years of construction and construction management experience on a wide range of
commercial, government, and multi-family projects. PDC will provide ongoing oversight of the project
budget and timeline, provide expertise in project costing, review contractor draw requests, perform weekly
site inspections, and facilitate twice a month meetings with the entire project team to discuss progress,
issues, and performance objectives expected by the next meeting.
Project plans were approved by the local planning commission on October 27, 2005. A presentation to
the local chamber of commerce was made on November 17, 2005 where the final plat was approved.
Following approval of the final plat the planning commissioner is expected to issue a site permit which will
allow B&S to begin grading and undercut of the construction site. Assuming site prep begins immediately
the following timing is expected:
Foundation Complete
Under Roof
Rough Finish Complete
Trim Finish Complete
Punch List Complete

Late April
Mid August
Mid October
Late November
Mid January 2007

Southwest Power Pool
Primary Operations Center
Project Organization Chart
Malinda Stevens
Project Manager

Shari Brown – Operations

Bob Ideker – Facilities

Laurie Guinn – Legal

John Kelly – IT/Infrastructure

John Mills – Engineering

Lanny Nickell – Operations

Kevin Perry – IT/Infrastructure/Security/Telecommunications

Bruce Rew – Contract Services

Randy Turner – IT/Telecommunications/Security

Greg Warren - Finance

Baldwin & Shell
General Contractors
Bobby Gosser
Project Manager

Cromwell Architects
Robert Bateman
Project Manager

PDC Companies
Construction Project Manager
Karen Ross
Project Manager
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Build Out – SPP will need to furnish the facility with equipment in order to move its critical operations to
the facility. The vast majority of the cost to furnish the facility is computing and network equipment and
software licenses. Additionally, SPP will need to wire its systems from the main junctions in the building
and install its security systems. Cube workspace for non-supervisory employees and office furniture for
supervisory employees will also be required. Expenditures for these assets are anticipated to be incurred
beginning in late August 2006. The schedule below summarizes the capital expenditure expectations
($000):
Servers
Software Licenses
Network Equipment
Security Equipment
Coordination Center Furniture
Cubicles / Office Furniture
Personal Computers / Printers

$2,020
946
469
361
500
435
106

Cost of Ownership – SPP has analyzed the cost of ownership of the facility against the cost of leasing
similar office space. Based on the directive of the Finance Committee, leasing space to house SPP’s
critical operations is not an option. However, the lease vs. buy analysis provides some context which with
to view the cost of the project. Our analysis is based upon the following assumptions:
Project cost
$5,433
Debt Financing
100%
Interest Rate
6.5%
Discount Rate
8.0%
Initial Lease Rate
$16.9/sf
Growth rates:
Lease
3%
Utilities
2%
Taxes
1%
Other Operating Expenses
5%
Real Estate Appreciation
3%
These assumptions result in a negative net present value for the project of ($225) or approximately 4% of
the project cost. The primary assumption driving the NPV for the project is the discount rate. Reducing
the discount rate to a rate equivalent to the rate on the long-term financing available today (6.5%) results
in a positive NPV of $212. SPP Staff views the negative NPV as the cost SPP is willing to pay to
exercise great control over the operations facility.
Future Expansion – SPP obtains office space at its existing location under a long-term lease expiring in
September 2011. Currently, SPP has 40,400 sq. ft. of space under this lease at an annual rate of
$683,000 and anticipates requiring additional space to house staff additions prior to the expiration of the
lease.
Were SPP to construct a single stand-alone facility adjacent to the primary operations facility on the
Maumelle site, the scope of the building would need to approach 50,000 sq. ft. The initial budget for the
primary operations site indicated construction costs of $250/ sq. ft. while the revised budget indicates
costs of $272/sq. ft. Assuming a more standard facility than currently proposed, a construction cost of
$200/sq. ft. which translates into a cost estimate to construct a 50,000 sq. ft. office facility of $10 million
with an annual operating cost starting at $320,000. A calculation of the NPV for this project is slightly
positive assuming SPP is able to sublease at least 50% of its existing office space.
2006 Budget Impact and Administrative Fee Impact: The SPP Board of Directors approved the 2006
operating and capital budget withholding funding and authorization for the Primary Operations Facility
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project. As a placeholder, the Primary Operations Facility budget contained the following amounts
($000):
Operating Expense:

$445

Capital Expenditures
Building Structure
Building Furnishings
Data Center Equipment and Software

$2,610
$975
$3,902

Changes to the placeholder included in the 2006 budget (though not approved or authorized) results in an
increase in the building structure line item to $5,089. This change represents an increase of $2,479 over
the placeholder amount.
SPP’s 2006 administrative fee was established anticipating funding of the operating expenses indicated
above ($65 relate to operating expense of the building with the remainder associated with incremental
maintenance contracts on systems within the facility). SPP anticipates building operating expenses for a
full year of nearly $115. Assuming SPP obtains permanent financing for the finished structure, SPP will
realize additional debt service expenditures which will need to be recovered through SPP’s administrative
fee. Based on preliminary indications, SPP forecasts annual debt service associated with the facility of
$570. Combined, annual expenditures for debt service and operating expenses directly attributable to the
facility are expected to total $685 translating to an incremental increase in SPP’s administrative fee of
$0.0027/MWh.
Recommendation:
Approve Primary Operations Facility project with a total budget of $10,270,000 as follows:
Land
Construction
Furnishings
Approved:

Action Requested:

$344,000
$5,089,000
$4,837,000
Ad hoc Member Group

January 13, 2006

Finance Committee

January 17, 2006

Approve Recommendation
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc. Primary Operations Center
Net Present Value Calculation
(amounts in $000)

Assumptions
Interest Rate on Debt
Discount Rate
Tax growth rate
Insurance growth rate

6.5%
8.0%
1.0%
5.0%

Utilities growth rate
Janitorial growth rate
Landscape growth rate
Lease growth rate
Real estate appreciation rate

2.0%
5.0%
5.0%
3.0%
3.0%

Primary Operations Facility
Capital (25yr am)
Interest
Taxes
Insurance
Utilities
Janitorial
Landscape
Maintenance
Net Reversion Value
Cash Flow

Triple net lease ($16.9/sf)
Net Cash Flows
NPV
Admin Office (50,000 sf)
Capital (25 yr am)
Interest
Taxes
Insurance
Utilities
Janitorial
Landscape
Maintenance
Legacy Lease Expense (50%)
Net Reversion Value
Cash Flow

Triple Net Lease ($16.9/sf)
Net Cash Flow
NPV
Primary Ops Center Value
Primary Ops Center Loan Balance
Office Facility Value
Office Facility Loan Balance

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

-217
-353
-24
-2
-72
-7
-8
-20

-217
-339
-24
-2
-73
-7
-8
-20

-217
-325
-24
-2
-75
-7
-9
-20

-217
-311
-25
-2
-76
-8
-9
-20

-217
-297
-25
-2
-78
-8
-10
-20

-217
-283
-25
-2
-79
-9
-10
-20

-217
-268
-25
-2
-81
-9
-11
-20

-217
-254
-26
-3
-83
-10
-11
-20

-217
-240
-26
-3
-84
-10
-12
-20

-217
-226
-26
-3
-86
-11
-12
-20

-217
-212
-27
-3
-88
-11
-13
-20

-217
-198
-27
-3
-90
-12
-14
-20

-217
-184
-27
-3
-91
-12
-14
-20

-217
-170
-27
-3
-93
-13
-15
-20

-217
-155
-28
-4
-95
-13
-16
-20

-217
-141
-28
-4
-97
-14
-17
-20

-217
-127
-28
-4
-99
-15
-17
-20

-217
-113
-28
-4
-101
-16
-18
-20

-217
-99
-29
-4
-103
-16
-19
-20

(703)

(691)

(680)

(668)

(657)

(646)

(635)

(623)

(612)

(601)

(591)

(580)

(569)

(559)

(548)

(538)

(528)

(518)

(508)

-217
-85
-29
-5
-105
-17
-20
-20
8,223
7,725

338

348

359

369

380

392

404

416

428

441

454

468

482

496

511

527

542

559

575

593

(365)

(343)

(321)

(299)

(277)

(254)

(231)

(208)

(184)

(160)

(136)

(112)

(87)

(62)

(37)

(11)

15

41

68

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

20

8,318

-225
1

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

-400
-650
-60
-5
-180
-17
-8
-50
-352

-400
-624
-61
-5
-184
-18
-8
-50
-362

2

-400
-598
-61
-5
-187
-19
-9
-50
-373

3

-400
-572
-62
-5
-191
-20
-9
-50
-384

4

-400
-546
-62
-5
-195
-21
-10
-50
-396

5

-400
-520
-63
-6
-199
-22
-10
-50

6

-400
-494
-64
-6
-203
-23
-11
-50

7

-400
-468
-64
-6
-207
-24
-11
-50

8

-400
-442
-65
-7
-211
-25
-12
-50

9

-400
-416
-66
-7
-215
-26
-12
-50

-400
-390
-66
-7
-219
-28
-13
-50

-400
-364
-67
-8
-224
-29
-14
-50

-400
-338
-68
-8
-228
-31
-14
-50

-400
-312
-68
-8
-233
-32
-15
-50

-400
-286
-69
-9
-238
-34
-16
-50

-400
-260
-70
-9
-242
-35
-17
-50

-400
-234
-70
-10
-247
-37
-17
-50

-400
-208
-71
-10
-252
-39
-18
-50

-400
-182
-72
-11
-257
-41
-19
-50

-400
-156
-72
-11
-262
-43
-20
-50

(1,721)

(1,711)

(1,702)

(1,693)

(1,685)

(1,269)

(1,250)

(1,231)

(1,211)

(1,193)

(1,174)

(1,155)

(1,137)

(1,119)

(1,101)

(1,083)

(1,066)

(1,049)

(1,032)

15,135
14,120

845

870

896

923

951

980

1,009

1,039

1,070

1,103

1,136

1,170

1,205

1,241

1,278

1,316

1,356

1,397

1,439

1,482

(876)

(841)

(806)

(770)

(734)

(290)

(241)

(191)

(141)

(90)

(38)

122

177

233

290

348

407

14

68

15,602

10
5433 5595.99 5763.87 5936.79 6114.89 6298.34 6487.29 6681.9 6882.36 7088.83
5433 5215.68 4998.36 4781.04 4563.72 4346.4 4129.08 3911.76 3694.44 3477.12
10000
10000

10300
9600

23-Jan-06
12:29 PM
7301.5 7520.54 7746.16 7978.54 8217.9 8464.44 8718.37 8979.92 9249.32 9526.8
3259.8 3042.48 2825.16 2607.84 2390.52 2173.2 1955.88 1738.56 1521.24 1303.92

10609 10927.3 11255.1 11592.7 11940.5 12298.7 12667.7 13047.7 13439.2 13842.3 14257.6 14685.3 15125.9 15579.7 16047.1 16528.5 17024.3 17535.1
9200
8800
8400
8000
7600
7200
6800
6400
6000
5600
5200
4800
4400
4000
3600
3200
2800
2400
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Southwest Power Pool, Inc.
FINANCE COMMITTEE
Report to the Board of Directors
October 8, 2004
Primary Data Center
Organizational Roster
The following members represent the Finance Committee:
Harry Skilton, Chair
Bob Schoenberger
Gary Voigt
Trudy Harper
Doug Henry
Michael Desselle

Director
Director
Arkansas Electric Cooperatives Corp.
Tenaska
Westar Energy
American Electric Power

Background
SPP’s operations are performed in leased space in a 12-story, multi-tenant office building in Little Rock.
SPP maintains an emergency operations center in additional leased space in Little Rock. Given the
increased focus on business continuity and reliable operations, and the inability of the present site to be
enhanced to address those needs, SPP staff recommends construction of a 15,000 square foot
operations and data center during 2005 with occupancy expected in early 2006. SPP would be the sole
occupant of this facility.
Analysis
SPP has consulted with a commercial real estate developer to locate a suitable site and determine the
base facility requirements of an operations and data center. A preliminary budget indicates the project
can be completed at a cost of approximately $3.5 million. Staff’s recommendation is to performcritical
operations from the site and house primary operating IT systems in this secure facility. Existing space
would be utilized to perform other SPP and operations functions and house back-up operating systems.
Initial plans include support staff of 20 operations and IT staff plus shift personnel and management at the
new facility; all other staff would remain at the current location.
SPP has reviewed numerous options regarding ownership of the proposed facility. The recommendation
is to hold the facility in a holding company separate from the SPP corporate structure. This provides the
most options and benefits for SPP’s membership. SPP would hold a 50% interest in the holding company
with the remaining 50% held by the developer. SPP would then enter into lease arrangements to secure
its occupancy of the facility. As a partner in the holding company, SPP would maintain partial control as
to the lease rate and terms (subject to the requirements of the lenders). Additionally, SPP believes
financing for the facility can be obtained at attractive rates under non-recourse scenarios, allowing SPP to
exclude financing costs from members’ long-term commitments. Based upon the projected construction
budget, SPP expects an “all inclusive” lease rate of approximately $24.00/square foot. A minimum lease
requirement of 10 years is anticipated; however shorter lease terms may be available depending upon
financing terms.
In addition to the lease requirements, SPP must allow for capital expenditures to fully outfit the facility.
These expenditures include replication of SPP’s operating systems, telecommunications infrastructure,
coordination center, and general office space. Staff currently estimates these capex costs will total
between $2 - $2.5 million.
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Recommendation
Board of Director approval of planned construction of primary data and operations center and the
operating and capital costs associated with this strategic initiative.
Approved:

Finance Committee

October 8, 2004

Action Requested:

Endorse recommendation, recognizing future costs to be incurred.
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